# THE FACEBOOK CAMPUS: EXPLORING THE EVOLUTION OF FACEBOOK CULTURE IN UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

By

KATIE GENE BAINBRIDGE

Bachelor of Arts in Journalism

University of Northern Colorado

Greeley, Colorado

2005

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December, 2008

# THE FACEBOOK CAMPUS: EXPLORING THE EVOLUTION OF FACEBOOK CULTURE IN UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

Thesis Approved:
Dr. Jesse Mendez
Thesis Adviser
Dr. Kenneth Stern
Dr. Steve Edwards
Dr. A. Gordon Emslie
Dean of the Graduate College

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Through this process I have encountered critical analysis, directed research, conducted reporting and discovered methods. Results of my study apply directly to my favorite part of student affairs, which is seeing people learn and environments improve. There are so many opportunities within higher education to enhance teaching, continually discovering what is relevant to current students.

I am grateful to my thesis advisor, Dr. Jesse Mendez, for his patience and encouragement throughout my graduate experience. I appreciate all his contributions of time and ideas that have made my master's experience productive and fulfilling. I also thank the other members of my thesis committee: Dr. Steve Edwards and Dr. Kenneth Stern. Their invaluable feedback helped me to improve my thesis in many ways.

I thank Dr. Kerri Kearney, who advised me and helped to guide me in various aspects of my research and graduate program. Also, special thanks to Kathleen Kennedy for her support and guidance, especially for her help in conducting focus group research and taking detailed notes.

I gratefully acknowledge funding sources that made my graduate work possible. I worked as a graduate assistant to Student Union Programs, also for the Oklahoma State University Educational Leadership Studies master's and doctoral student recruiting. My final year I was funded by the US Army Defense Ammunition Center Project with Oklahoma State University as a research assistant. I have been lucky to work with

excellent leaders in a very supportive educational environment- I owe significant gratitude to the DAC Academy Team for the opportunities and team atmosphere.

I am so thankful to the higher education community and student affairs professionals that have encouraged me and welcomed me to the field. Membership in the Association for the Study of Higher Education (ASHE), NASPA: Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education, American College Personnel Association (ACPA) and the American Educational Research Association (AERA) has provided opportunities to network and meet some of the most generous and helpful practitioners in the field. I cannot even begin to list the many administrators and fellow graduate students I met through association with these organizations that guided my development as a researcher.

I am tempted to individually thank all my friends who have shared in the joys of discovery with me. However, as this list is much too long and I will surely forget someone, I would like to say: Thank you very much to each of you. Your company and influence are valued so much. A special thank you to: Lyndsey Smith, Carly Shearer, Travis Harr-Connole, and Jessica and Aaron Maslow.

I am incredibly lucky to have a supportive family: grandparents, uncles, aunts, cousins and a nephew who support me with their loving nature. Thank you to my brother, Brian, and my sister, Sherry, for teaching me almost everything they ever learned. Lastly and most importantly, I wish to thank my parents: my father, Bruce Bainbridge, for encouraging me and reading my work at all hours of the day and my mother, Trudi Gesin-Bainbridge, for supporting and encouraging me in all aspects of life.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the problem	8
Purpose of the study	
Research questions	9
Limitations	10
Assumptions	12
Significance of study	13
Organization of study	14
Definition of terms	15
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	18
Technology and Community Development	24
Safety, Privacy and University Responsibility	
University Community and Retention	31
Community Development and Campus Culture	
III. METHODOLOGY	36
Subjects	36
Instruments	
Research Design and Procedure	42
Data Analysis Technique	
Organization of Data	45

Chapter	Page
IV. FINDINGS	47
Presentation of Materials	47
Themes	48
Motivation for use	48
Safety	50
Community development	52
Creeping, lurking and stalking	
Evidence of community interaction prior to enrollment	58
V. DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS	60
Discussion of Research Questions	60
Motivation for use	60
Safety	
Community development	
Creeping, lurking and stalking	
Policy Implications	
Discussion of Limitations	
Summary of Findings	66
VI. CONCLUSION	69
Future Studies	70
Summary of Conclusion	71
REFERENCES	74
APPENDICES	78
Appendix A: Email script	
Appendix B: Interview Guide	
Appendix C: Interview Script	
Appendix D: Informed Consent Form	
Appendix E: Institutional Review Board Documents	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
Table 1:	Information Summary, Focus group one, April 23	39
Table 2:	Information Summary, Focus group two, April 24	40
Table 3:	Information Summary, Focus group three, May 6	40

#### CHAPTER I

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Technological advancements and communication are an integral part of a progressive culture and society. Specific forms of entertainment and communication, such as television, telephone and talking movies that were once viewed as entertaining and innovative now serve a fundamental role within communities and the majority of public life. In a virtual world where 'stalking' is socially acceptable, 'creeping' is the norm and 'lurking' is common, Facebook is an online forum where members exercise shared language that is foreign to non-members. Technology on university campuses is ubiquitous; especially present in the communication horizon is the development of Facebook and other online social networks. Social networking websites are increasingly popular among college aged students and young adults.

Online social networking websites (OSNWs) are online communities in which students engage in communication, information gathering and peer observation. Evidence supports OSNWs are a significant trend especially within the Millennial generation (Anderson, 2001; Bugeja, 2006; Ellison, Lampe & Steinfeld, 2006; Gemmill & Peterson, 2006; Gosling, Gaddis & Vazire, 2007; Gross, Acquisti & Heinz, 2005; Hewitt & Forte, 2006; Lampe, Ellison & Steinfeld, 2006; Read, 2005; Ridings, Gefen & Arinze, 2002; Ridings & Gefen, 2004); it is important to analyze the influence that social networking websites may have on a student's academic achievement and social

integration. Student achievement and retention are influenced by a variety of factors. The introduction of advanced OSNW to university communities has the potential to influence administrative thought in the future and is a topic that merits further investigation.

Studies report that the majority of users on Facebook are between the ages of 18 and 25, which is a higher membership for the reported age group than any other OSNW (Gross et al., 2005; Lampe et al., 2006). Traditional aged college students have unique needs and are a continually growing faction of OSNW users, therefore an awareness of student integration is helpful in developing processes to meet the needs of today's student. Social integration and interaction within university residential facilities is integral to student retention. Integration into the social and academic systems of an institution impacts student attrition; theories on student departure from universities are focused in the inadequate incorporation of students into campus culture, or if individual student values differ from the college the student attends (Braxton, Vesper & Hosler, 1995; Braxton, Sullivan & Johnson, 1997; Tinto, 1975).

Facebook is an OSNW where membership was originally exclusive to students at Harvard, gradually expanded membership to limited university communities, with the most recent expansion offering accounts to any member with an email address (Jesdanun, 2006). The internet software application serves a social utility function enabling users to connect and keep up with profiles of many members. Since the implementation of the Facebook.com community in February 2004 (www.Facebook.com), Facebook has undergone many changes and is bound to continue to expand to meet the developing needs of users as one of the fastest growing OSNW.

Registration to become a member of the Facebook community is relatively simple, and begins by clicking "register" on the <a href="www.facebook.com">www.facebook.com</a> website; users are also able to explore Facebook or "take a tour," or look for friends prior to signing up. After filling in name, email address and birthday, the user is asked to select a main network; different sections are available and new members can enter either high school, college or company network. Membership is confirmed by an email sent to the provided address. After confirming membership, the user can log in using their email address and password, and join a regional network, determined based on the network closest to the user's city and state. After full membership is completed, users are able to set up profiles and connect with friends, revealing as much or as little information as they choose.

The interactions that students have with peers, faculty and other campus community members influence the impression of university commitment to, and retention of students. Campus culture shapes much of the interaction that students experience. Kuh and Whitt (1988) define campus culture as "persistent patterns of norms, values, practices, beliefs, and assumptions that shape the behavior of individuals and groups in a college or university and provide a frame of reference within which to interpret the meaning of events and actions on and off the campus" (p.1). The impact that campus culture has on student success is crucial to understanding the interactions students have across different communication channels within the university community. Faculty interaction with students provides a necessary component to integration into the campus community and student retention. Literature from Kuh and Whitt (1988, 1999), Preece (2004) and Astin (1975; 1993) supports theories regarding community development and group sharing activities that may influence retention. Preece (2004) identifies

characteristics of a successful community to include members to have shared routines, vocabulary and clear sense of purpose; as a result people communicate purpose within the community and policies established to direct members to form socially bonded members. Astin (1975, 1993) further addresses subgroups of students with a common sense of purpose having the ability to develop group identity.

Hewitt and Forte (2006) studied student perceptions of faculty presence on Facebook in two undergraduate courses instructed by professors with established Facebook accounts, and the study presents unique findings that student reaction to encounters with faculty online is varied, however two-thirds of students reported comfort with faculty membership in Facebook. Informal interaction with faculty may in fact play a significant part in student socialization and retention; influencing student persistence and withdrawal from universities, attrition issues are evident in both the social and academic elements of colleges, when students are lacking integration into systems of the institution (Kuh & Whitt, 1988; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991; Tinto, 1975).

Integrating technology in the classroom has the ability to provide a bridge between information, resources and the intended audience (Bugeja, 2006; Campbell, 2005; Conrad, 2002). Beyond academic information seeking, technology and wide-spread internet use enables information seeking to enter the social domain. OSNWs were not necessarily created for academic purposes, but the influence is noticeable within academic environments. Facebook, like much other technological advancement, enhances modern communication on college campuses via OSNW membership. Offline relationships exist online and new connections are often made; these connections are formed under unique circumstances, overcome geographic boundaries and enable the

continuation of relationships formed in person. Campus culture has the potential to be influenced through the extension of association between users and incoming students. Questions arise within communities of shared practice, values or location as to the degree to which interacting with people of similar interests may influence individual perspectives of community. The interaction among parties with shared interests influences and reinforces belief systems among community members.

Social networking site users are a diverse population, including professors, students, and employers. Children and adults alike utilize websites like Zanga, Facebook, MySpace, Friendster, and several others (Gross et al., 2005; Hewitt & Forte, 2006; Read, 2006; Ridings & Gefen, 2004). The significance of these sites and the connection of people on mass levels are still to be understood as the phenomenon is recent and dynamic. Cell phones, extensive text messaging and OSNWs are only a few areas yet to be studied in detail. In addition, omnipresent online social networking is evident in the increasing number of available sites; amplified membership poses the concern of potential over-networking. Over-networking is possible as a result of multiple OSNWs available for users to obtain membership, creating a complex social environment online; over-networked users exist as a result of an oversaturated market of opportunities to select forums through which to interact online (Rheingold, 2000).

Student affairs professionals face challenges in addressing online social networking. While some institutions actively pursue and address students utilizing Facebook, others assuredly are prone to wait, ignore or remain totally unaware of the growing environment of online communities. Various studies (e.g. Agrawal, Kiernan, Srikant & Xu, 2002; Arthur, Sherman, Appel & Moore, 2006; Gemmill & Peterson,

2006; Gosling et al., 2007; Gross et al., 2005) address the dialectic of immediate contact that is simultaneously personal and impersonal, instant and immortal that serves to communicate or project either an honest image or an avatar of how one wants to be perceived. While some experience a confusion between reality and identity projection, data supports there are many practical applications of online social networking within the campus community.

Students living in residence halls are able to use social networks to communicate immediate, timely, important information to an individual, a class or a student body. Specifically, Facebook is the most present for campus communities serving user's ability to connect established offline relationships and online university community social browsing (Lampe et al., 2006; Read, 2006). Facebook is a tool in the progression to instant information, on demand, as needed. Institutions must consider Facebook as a developing means to affect the campus community through a new path of communications affiliation opportunities (Gosling et al., 2007).

Before Facebook opened to the public in 2006 (Jesdanun, 2006), many users perceived membership as part of a safe community, virtual geography bounded to those within the academic community. User traits depend on intent of usage; however several studies reveal that most users do not change privacy settings. Only 1.2% of users in the focus of one study changed their privacy settings to make profile searchable only to peers within their university (Gross et al., 2005). All safety and potential concerns must be addressed with students, as opposed to completely discouraging use of virtual communities considering the fact that skepticism and concerns regarding Facebook are many. For administrators, addressing internet stalking, identity theft, campus security,

safety and sense of privacy are all important (Bugeja, 2006; Read, 2005; Read, 2006). The potential impact on a student's future employment, interaction with faculty and the fact that Facebook can serve as a time consumer and academic distraction have made online social networking a pressing issue for administrators.

The search options within Facebook are more restrictive in seeking users, and is becoming a standard for university student identity (Lampe et al., 2006). For this reason, Facebook serves as an excellent platform to gather information regarding high school online social networking use and interaction with the university community. To serve as a practical resource to administrators, this study aims to encourage university communities to educate students and parents of the positive and negative influences that virtual communities carry.

What defines community within individual institutions of higher education is varied, and recognizing the importance of student integration to communities is emphasized through administrative decisions. The significance of being involved in a community and integrated into the fabric of the college with which students associate have a direct correlation to student retention and matriculation rates (Kuh & Whitt, 1988; Tinto, 1982 & 1988). Exploring the many opportunities to utilize online communities and the possibility of influencing the actual campus community could enhance the experience for all stakeholders involved in the institution (Ellison et al., 2006; Preece, 2004; Rheingold, 2000). The digital landscape has an effect on the campus environment; research will provide an introduction to issues facing traditional college students and their evolving relationship with the institution.

Researchers interested in social networking find Facebook to be a site filled with opportunities for study as a result of heavy usage patterns and the ability to connect online and offline relationship development. Digital community networks based on shared interests rather than geographical location provide an understanding of what students associate as personal community and requires further investigation. Typically, online to offline relationship development occurs, finding that relationships that initiate online often lead to correspondents meeting in person (Ellison et al., 2006). Does this equally apply to OSNWs? Is this pattern of behavior reflected in student usage, and if so, what influence does that play on the campus community? Because communities on Facebook are often bounded to a geographic location, the environment online is prone to imitate similar patterns of offline correspondence.

The traits of users depend on the intent of utilization of internet, social networking and computers in general. The intent of users can change with age, socio economic status, technological experience and various other influences. However the trend of social networking online is growing and will continue into the future.

## Statement of the problem

Do students who see Facebook as a community presence on campus prior to arrival have a more accepting response to using OSNW in college? The degree this evolving technology should be addressed is still to be determined: Should administration ignore the digital campus and focus efforts towards addressing campus safety issues in preparing students? Administration needs to determine the role and involvement of OSNWs within the institution.

## Purpose of the study

The study examines the growth and development of campus culture through OSNWs. The purpose of this study is to produce a useful report of ways that students enhance their campus experience through OSNWs by investigating the trends in social integration of Facebook users at Oklahoma State University. Conducting a focus group will detail student assimilation into campus community in relation to high school involvement in the OSNW. The influence that Facebook has on the institutional culture is dependent on student use. Understanding social connections via online community involvement is necessary to addressing current student issues.

Developing a presence and influencing the depth, intensity and involvement within the campus environment online is a necessary component of an evolving institutional student communication paradigm. To what extent each institution chooses to react is dependent on many factors, but this study will provide organizations and student affairs professionals the ability to influence building campus community and supporting students.

#### **Research Questions**

There is a potential relationship between the use of Facebook in high school that has an influence on the academic and social integration of the university student and overall community. A correlation linking the communication with campus community prior to enrollment and satisfaction with university will be present, in addition to providing evidence of the relationship between campus community in person and virtual campus community participation on www.Facebook.com. Students who have visited the campus prior to attending may have added friends or developed positive impressions of

the University; OSNW involvement with the university campus community will aid in the facilitation of student's cultural integration as students within the institution. Should residence officials utilize OSNW programs to inform residents of programming?

Discussion may reveal the extent students are knowledgeable of safety concerns and factors impacting OSNW membership security. Defining characteristics and driving factors behind OSNW memberships influence student experiences and discussion can reveal the impact Facebook membership has on the campus community allowing university experience to be better understood. The influence that OSNW membership has on the student perspective of the institution may further affect the university response to student use.

#### Limitations

Limitations begin with the understanding the Facebook is constantly changing and profiles can be updated and changed several times daily. The availability of a snap shot of activity on Facebook is present, but difficulty is found is capturing the entirety of Facebook usage. The study is limited to students living in residence halls on campus and currently attending a large research institution selected in the Midwest/Southern region of the United States. Students attending the selected university were chosen due to the researcher's previous involvement in other Facebook research on campus and knowledge of available audience. The accessibility to students at the researcher's institution played a key role in demographics of selected participants because focus group attendance was necessary to participate in the study which was held on campus.

The literature suggests students in residence halls are more likely to be using OSNW; underclassmen participate more regularly in virtual communication than upper

classman and students living off-campus (Anderson, 2001; Gemmill & Peterson, 2006). The study is limited to students and not involving faculty or other potential university Facebook community members to make a statement regarding undergraduate OSNW use and student involvement. The study is also limited to students who are current and previous users of Facebook due to timeliness of topic and necessity that users have knowledge of habits and ability to share user experience.

As the study itself is notwithstanding limitations, it must be noted that the intent for the research is to provide a snapshot of student use of Facebook. Various limits exist including a small sample size, lack of randomization, and variability, resulting in focus groups that may not be sufficiently random. As with many social "attitudinal" surveys, there is a great deal of variability expected within the population of Facebook users. This could bias the initial evaluation, but the results of the initial focus groups are to be used to develop foundations for more extensive, statistically valid research.

#### Extraneous variable

A limitation of the study is that respondents are limited strictly to Facebook users.

Participant variables

Is there a difference in community of students using Facebook from those not involved in OSNW? The study does not address students who utilize other OSNW platforms, although participants may be members of multiple OSNWs. Another participant variable is that users of Facebook are self-selecting.

#### Environment variables

New technology and early innovators using Facebook are environmental variables. Facebook may be used more extensively by collegiate bound high school students than those not attending any university.

The results of this study are limited to the responses of focus group participants and will lack external validity because identifying members will not be a representative sample from the population. Research conducted in this study was guided by many resources (e.g. Bloor, 2001; Greenbaum, 1998, 2000; Patton, 2001; Robinson & Lai, 2006; Seale, 1998, 1999, 2004). In a focus group, the researcher has less control over data that emerge and is limited to the ability of the focus group directors to structure the process in an unbiased manner. Focus groups are an insecure basis to make generalizations about a population, and attempt to reproduce social structure in an unnatural way through specific, directed and monitored interaction. However, focus groups manage to surface and highlight issues that may otherwise not be considered that guide further exploration. Focus groups are often the first step in shaping a researchable question or hypothesis.

#### Assumptions

Focus groups seek to explore social and cultural meanings and the knowledge shared by participants through recorded dialogue is useful to theoretical research (Seale, 1998). The assumption in this study is that opinions and attitudes are socially produced and shaped through interaction with others and therefore more openly discussed regarding the topic. Focus groups are a reliable forum to generate discussion regarding Facebook development and influence on the campus community. Focus groups are an

efficient method to retrieve the most information within relatively strict time constraints (Bloor, 2001; Greenbaum, 2000). Through use of focus groups, additional information regarding social networking and building campus community can be gathered. Adapted to meet the needs of research, focus groups provide the data to generate a hypotheses regarding future Facebook use by undergraduate students.

Key assumptions of research are that the nature and sources of problems deemed of societal importance can be understood through knowledge, but have limited application context (Patton, 2001). Bloor (2001) affirms professionals can utilize qualitative research to impact the larger community by focusing attention on relevant activities that are particularly useful to practitioners. Focus group research is useful in social science as an active way to access audience and information (Greenbaum, 1998). While the researcher identifies as an observer, there is an inevitable influence on participants within social situations. However the goal of the investigator is to take advantage of the intended purpose by being present in the name of research, therefore being aware that interaction indeed influences results that would not be obtained without observation (Patton).

# Significance of study

Facebook has proven to be one of the fastest growing communication methods chosen on campus communities (Bugeja, 2006; Read, 2005). Further understanding the parallels between online communities and the physical campus community will provide administrators with the ability to use OSNWs and emerging technology effectively to enhance the student experience. This is a newly emerging trend in the communications process of the student, and the spectrum of possibilities for the academy has yet to be

fully considered or scientifically researched. Investigating the evolution of college students as Facebook users requires addressing the current uses of Facebook and comparing generational differences in user traits. Speculation and concerns, in addition to the impact on the campus community, have far-reaching implications for university officials, and further clarifying Facebook as a component of institutional community influences the future progression of the business of OSNWs.

# Organization of study

The development of focus groups to discuss and gauge impressions is distinguished within the body of the study and appendices attached. Focus groups are summarized within the body of the study through recruitment procedures, invitation to participate, participant descriptions and the group discussion process. Chapter one also consists of an introduction to OSNWs and the development of the problem and study.

The review of literature contained within chapter two develops summaries of recent literature highlighting the importance of Facebook and online communities to the academic community. Organized within the literature review is the influence of technology and community development on the academic community. Following is the section regarding university responsibility, safety and privacy issues facing OSNW users. Overall themes conclude with community development and student integration processes influencing retention and involvement of students.

The methodology is discussed in chapter three and includes subsections covering subjects, instruments, the research design and procedure as well as descriptions of the techniques for analysis and interpretation of data. Advantages of focus groups are discussed to present a range of experiences and opinions. The discussion of findings in

chapter four includes specific quotes and findings from focus groups. The analysis and interpretation of data involves developed summaries, identification of patterns and the application of research techniques to collect data through group interaction. Discussion and comparison of data between groups suggests areas of research to support the research goal to establish a reliable conclusion to suggest areas of research that require more investigation.

#### Definition of terms

Application: Optional OSNW Facebook enhancements added to profiles to enhance interaction in OSNW. Third party developers now create new applications that sometimes result in 'application spam.' Applications include such options as photo sharing, chat, mobile, and many others.

*Blogs (Web logs):* Online journals which are sometimes accessible to the public or limited to friends, depending on user settings.

Cached: Webpage or search engine that records a catalogue of live images: tracking web pages for future reference. Creating an archive that records all possible points and times, resulting in the accessibility of items posted for a short period being dated back and traced to the specific user.

*Creeping:* Users log into OSNW to view profiles or photos and look through friends of friends and extended community, typically browsing for a long period of time.

Friend: To be a user's "friend" on an OSNW, a user must contact the other to invite (request the other "add as a friend") to create a newly formed relationship online. Friends are usually given more access to information on Facebook than privacy settings allow for non-affiliated members (non-friends).

Full-time student: Any student registered in more than 12 credit hours at the university.

Facebook: Online social networking website, www.Facebook.com

*Group:* Students can become members of groups within any network to which they belong. Global groups also exist that are open to all users. Membership is limited to a maximum of 200 groups per user.

Millennial: Term that encompasses all current traditional undergraduate students, typically referred to as being born between 1982 and 2000. This generation of college students is more racially and ethnically diverse than past generations of college students. Many Millennial students have never known life without computers, and the internet has generally been included in their education. A challenge is that most Millennial students are more technologically savvy than the professors that teach them (Carlson, 2005).

*Network:* Facebook consists of various networks based on shared spaces: workplace, university, high school or region.

OSNW: Online social networking website

*Poke:* Feature on Facebook whereby users choose to "poke" any other member of Facebook. Pokes have no exact function but can be interpreted in any number of ways, simply being a notification that the user has been "poked." Pokes are one of Facebook's original feature applications. (www.Facebook.com)

Residence hall: Living and learning communities within a university where students reside, consisting of traditional and non-traditional housing styles. Residence halls considered in this study include single and multiple occupancy rooms.

Wall: Available to post comments, the wall is visible on user sites. Individuals can remove comments from their own wall, and restrict accessibility to view their wall to specific users.

#### CHAPTER II

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

Created in 2004, Facebook was invented by students at Harvard. Membership to the networking site was originally open to members of the Harvard community and rapidly expanded, producing a significant enhancement to previous programs or opportunities to interact with campus community online (Jesdanun, 2006; Read, 2005; Ridings & Gefen, 2004). Initially, membership was released strictly to college communities; available to participants with a university email address, Facebook eventually expanded access to any internet user with a valid email address. Student ability to keep in touch with friends, locate classmates and view university happenings is evolving and connecting communities on campus as never before. Information gathering, peer interaction, communicating or expressing personalities and seeking entertainment are perhaps some of the more pervasive uses of technology and virtual communities (Gosling et al., 2007; Lampe et al., 2006; Preece, 2004; Ridings & Gefen, 2004; Ridings et al., 2002). The social platforms through which communities are able to connect have grown in the virtual world of OSNWs and may perhaps be a window to the enhanced possibilities for student integration and social interaction (Ellison et al., 2006; Gemmill & Peterson, 2006; Lampe et al., 2006).

Research provides a theoretical background on the social integration process of students and the importance of connecting with others within environments (Kuh & Whitt, 1988; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991; Tinto, 1975). Vital to the establishment within group identity and social integration of the university is a student's first year of college (Tinto, 1975).

Facebook's user base consists mostly of college students, and increasingly of alumni associated with institutions. Facebook is a useful communication technology that serves almost as a private tool for students within institutions to further their involvement and experience within the university. Young adults enjoy the independence of utilizing technology, including the process of researching and discovery (Arthur et al., 2006).

Social interaction among peers has made networking through OSNWs a part of universities; the social impact is far reaching and the effective inclusion and utilization by the academy remains in the early stages. Universities have the potential to benefit from making websites interactive, student driven and accessible for information exchange. Community development online occurs when users drive the operating functions, including guiding input, goals and topics (Ridings & Gefen, 2004). Bonding between members encourages patrons to continue involvement in communities, therefore motivating students to continue to exchange information and enhance their ability to become socially integrated.

Social psychology provides that affiliation and belonging in a social organization aid in goal achievement, and virtual communities are a prime outlet for information exchange with a high probability of community interaction (Ridings & Gefen, 2004). Virtual communities are precise and the internet guides users to socialize within a prompt

group via users seeking membership within intentional community borders. Internet and technology enable the quest for interaction within specific realms, channeling users to socialize within the ultimate place to interact with relative strangers, and gather information. The internet is becoming a social atmosphere, as motivation for use has shifted from strictly information and data gathering to making friends and social development (Ridings & Gefen, 2004).

Facebook is unique from previous online communities as membership in the virtual social network is voluntary (Conrad, 2002); users are united in shared purpose, community and geography. Increased interaction online and the use of technology to communicate are current trends among college students and merit the attention of student affairs professionals. Studies have shown that an overwhelming majority of Facebook users are college students or teenagers, proving the value of further inquiry focusing on the social impact of technology, the media and networking through OSNWs (Ellison et al., 2006). Some online communities are joined in a "bandwagon" manner; seemingly that certain groups only interact within specific groups online and in person (Conrad, 2002).

Important to student development is the purpose of meeting in person within university community, and participation in online community may be disregarded by some members when given the choice between interpersonal development and online community growth. Facebook seemingly bonds university communities through commonalities and encourages innovative communication progression. College-oriented sites allow online networking to move to face-to-face interactions (Gross et al., 2005; Lampe et al., 2006).

Additional concerns include the influence that online social interaction may have on students. The confidence in the use of OSNWs may present potential over reliance issues for some (Ellison et al., 2006). Networks also carry the potential to be less used and not garner the potential benefits within certain campus communities. A university environment with a complete understanding of use by faculty, students and administrative leaders aids the progress of developing campus culture. To further benefit universities concerned with integrating technology, a complete understanding of networking through OSNWs by students is of great importance to satisfying the goals of higher education.

Undergraduate learning and personal development by students is influenced by peers (Kuh, 1995a). Socially, students on university campuses are generally secluded and tend to rely on technology to maintain social support, serving to reduce stress through contact with friends and family; technology and internet provide an outlet to cope with stress and escape the realities of the present (Anderson, 2001). Research supports this but still finds students are most likely to seek face-to-face interaction within their local community for stress alleviation rather than using technology to contact friends or family to alleviate anxiety on stressful days (Gemmill & Peterson, 2006). The entertainment and social outlet purpose of OSNW usage is apparent, yet the interaction with campus community can not be minimized.

Technology has enabled social connection and access available instantaneously; modern college students utilize mobile technology making direct contact a normal and expected part of daily lives (Arthur et al., 2006). Evidence of offline to online community development further motivates student involvement in Facebook, providing an outlet for students to assemble virtually and in person within university borders.

Facebook serves a specific geographically bound community, offering limited opportunities to belong to other communities. However, with group development and interest postings, community is generated through interaction (Rheingold, 2000). Defining the quality and meaning of interaction within virtual communities offers valuable information regarding community development and the ways in which OSNW membership may enhance campus culture for individuals.

Of 1,300 traditional college students, no less than one-tenth used the internet to an extent which it interfered with academic well-being, social performance, and general health (Anderson, 2001). Online community membership implies safety to many users; however, social conflicts that exist in reality potentially subsist online. Over reliance on virtual communities can have negative social and psychological effects (Rheingold, 2000). Rheingold (2000) further addresses the prickly relationship of communicating personal information through an impersonal mode of interaction. Exaggerated examples include the idea that views and perspectives reinforced through interaction among community members may cause dramatic changes. Changes among social order and shared ideology become less defined by geography and more by common thought and ideas. OSNWs must face the challenge to enable users to understand unfamiliar concepts and create a truly global community (Rheingold), while the purpose of sites like Facebook is to share information, reinforcing shared community.

The maintenance of connections with former classmates is a continued motivation for using Facebook and is evident through the many OSNW profiles which identify the high school Facebook members previously attended (Ellison et al., 2006). Additional reasons for seeking involvement in a virtual community included increased access to

information, exchanging facts, social support and friendship maintenance (Ridings, 2004). College students use Facebook to make social connections; often students post profiles of themselves exposing many elements of the user's personal interests and information. Friends are able to post comments on pages of friends, viewing profiles of individuals they may or may not know in person. In addition to hobbies, musical interest and relationship status, residence, phone number and favorite quotes are among other identifying fields that students present via online profile.

Sites like Facebook and MySpace are accessible to most internet users and anyone with an email address. Users provide information through creating a 'profile' with the intent of communication with others, meeting new friends and connecting with old friends. Users post self-descriptive information for dating purposes, to connect to friends, conduct career searches, receive feedback and blogging. Hundreds of thousands of new users are added daily to sites like these (Gross et al., 2005; Lampe et al., 2006). Facebook averages the highest number of users from 18-25 with over half of the user base falling in the age range, higher than any other social networking site (Bugeja, 2006; Ellison et al., 2006; Gross et al., 2005; Jesdanun, 2006). This provides the knowledge that college aged students use Facebook as a popular OSNW option. Voluntary membership in virtual groups based on common interest provides the forum to join topical social groups in addition to receiving birthday notices, messaging and sharing photographs.

Millennial students spend a significant amount of time using computers. Much of the research contains data stating the majority of the Millennial generation, especially those in a university community, overwhelmingly own cellular phones and have regular internet access (Gemmill & Peterson, 2006). Communication and social outreach is either primary or secondary motivator for engaging in continued computer use. Significant development in technology use by students on university campuses is revealed in an overwhelming majority of students that report using technology on a regular basis, owning a cellular phone and internet service. Students often use cellular phones and internet to seek social support, however a quarter of the students surveyed in one study reported experiencing disruptions delaying schoolwork or interrupting ability to complete tasks as a result of technology (Gemmill & Peterson, 2006).

## Technology and Community Development

Physical, academic and social well-being influences the exploration of the cultural meaning of collective Facebook use on university campuses. Increased accessibility to community through cellular phones and the convenience of internet access make the maintenance of virtual community important. Access is now available anywhere, anytime as the internet on mobile phones making the unification of members based on common interests a possibility at all times.

Facebook user traits vary individually, but the average user has between 150-200 "friends", and time spent on social networking websites tend to be 10-30 minutes daily; users often access Facebook for entertainment purposes rather than information gathering purposes (Ellison et al., 2006). Users frequently respond through Facebook for "social searching," seeking information regarding social contacts, classmates or new acquaintances (Lampe et al., 2006), furthering the offline-online community development. However, first year students responding in two survey based research studies reported limited use of event planning function on Facebook, overwhelmingly

reporting social searching as main purpose of use (Lampe et al., 2006). Social searching and social browsing are defined by Lampe, Ellison and Steinfeld (2006). Social searching is conducted by users to explore information about people with an offline connection while social browsing is conducted with the purpose of finding individuals or organizations with the intent of offline relationship development (Lampe et al., 2006). However, research is varied and supports that user traits are varied and difficult to generalize beyond the fact that Facebook users primarily seek information to enhance understanding of offline community rather than for the purpose of social browsing (Ellison et al., 2006; Lampe et al., 2006).

Facebook generates networks that are geographically bounded, offering users the ability to identify with a region for a network to belong to. Identifying an affiliation with a specific institution or with a geographic location, users can view profiles of other users in their region. Students often do not expect faculty, administrators or anyone outside of the university campus community to view personal profiles (Lampe et al., 2006). This serves a danger to student knowledge of personal revelation online, because Facebook enables immediate peers and others within university community to view profiles unless additional privacy measures are enabled (Agrawal et al., 2002; Read, 2006). Provided this knowledge of student discourse, the importance of enabling security measures can not be overstated through communication about OSNWs to student populations (Patil & Kobsa, 2005).

Facebook enables users to contact friends within their network, and also to connect with friends outside of their school or geographic region. Friendships within the institution and outside of the university are maintained through the same communication

tool. Social interaction plays a major role in understanding the importance of Facebook to the user sense of community. Community is created through email, instant messaging, discussion boards, groups, blogs and games (Rheingold, 2000). Creating collaborative websites that are easily created, modified and useable for online databases serve the university community to enhance structures that are already in place. Habits of online community member interaction are reflected in on-campus interaction; research provides a theoretical background on the development of campus community.

Conduct viewed as expected behaviors and acceptable is different for individual users, and a range of students use Facebook in an assortment of ways. Preece (2004) identifies the term "lurking," used in research to describe specific interactions students have whereby not indicating to users they have viewed their personal information, but often visiting sites to seek updates on personal happenings. Social browsing is limited to those within the Facebook member's selected community, so lurking is not often viewed as a negative aspect to Facebook (Lampe et al., 2006; Rheingold, 2000). Active communities have significantly less lurking and more participation (Lampe et al., 2006; Rheingold, 2000). Online communities exist virtually as social groups of individuals forming personal relationships in cyberspace; members communicate over enough time with significant human emotion, whereby creating a social attachment (Rheingold, 2000).

The impact of OSNWs is far reaching; Facebook.com and Myspace.com are synonymous with campus culture today. Socializing is increasingly being done online, which impacts campus culture and community as a result of the shift in communication preferences of students. Facebook is a dominant presence in university community social connections, combining itself with the meaning of the college experience and enhancing

the capability of utilizing technology to support relationship development. Kuh and Whitt (1988) discuss addressing campus culture through observable forms and artifacts. Viewing OSNW use as a cultural artifact may suggest that Facebook provides information to assist in understanding and assessing campus culture. Individuals with commonalities offline are able to extend interactions within the virtual realm; OSNWs allow for alterations to existing relationships and encourages the formation of new social connections (Ellison et al., 2006).

Participation in online communities allows users to take advantage of resources available among members. Increased social capital among users improves community, develops trust among members, and increased participation in activities (Ellison et al., 2006). Undergraduate membership on Facebook within some universities is almost unanimous, regardless of gender, income or ethnicity; Facebook is a virtual community that serves as an accurate depiction of actual environment although older students are less likely to be on Facebook (Ellison et al., 2006). Social psychology offers the explanation that affiliation and belonging within a social organization is beneficial to information seeking which aids in achievement of personal goals (Ridings & Gefen, 2004).

Gosling, Gassid & Vazire (2007) examined 113 Facebook users in terms of interpersonal impressions from peers. After examining the user websites, Gosling et al., interviewed acquaintances to determine whether the user expressed personality effectively and accurately. The authors concluded that OSNWs like Facebook are a valid means of communication among peers and an effective means of personality expression.

Gemmill and Peterson (2006) surveyed student use of technology, monitoring behavior and habits. Information was gathered regarding the use of email, instant

message services, internet for academic and leisure, cell phone use and land-line phone use. The study found that college students obtain social support via cell phones and instant message, which is not surprising considering the high degree of connectedness associated with Millennial students. The study concluded that technology use surveyed was highest among freshman and lowest in seniors and, to avoid academic side effects, users need to address the role of technology within their academic progress (Gemmill & Peterson, 2006).

### Safety, Privacy and University Responsibility

Existing academic research concerning OSNWs focuses on privacy and safety concerns, information revelation and risk assessment (Gross et al., 2005). In "Think Before You Share," Read (2006), discusses the use of Facebook by school administrators at Pennsylvania State University to identify students who rushed the football field following a victory against Ohio State University. Students posted pictures of themselves and friends, in addition to starting a group within Facebook for students claiming to have charged the field after the win. Administrators identified students associated with the event as a result of students utilizing computers to further their social resources. Questions are raised as a result of this practice regarding students being unfairly implicated as involved in a crime as a result of their involvement in OSNWs. Concerns for students escalate as a result of administration's inability to implicate additional student involvement because the other rule-breaking students chose not to have Facebook accounts or to participate in the virtual group.

Patil and Kobsa (2005) studied the use of privacy controls within awareness systems, and establish that the use of privacy controls in technology is dependent on the

knowledge of security features, and the technology itself. Users of MySpace were presented security warnings and alerts, yet most chose not to enable additional privacy settings. The OSNW primary function was not to serve the interests of protecting members privacy (Gross et al., 2005) so the fact that an overwhelming number of users opted to use standard privacy measures and not to enable additional security is a point of apprehension; however privacy controls have now been improved in response to user concerns (Hewitt & Forte, 2006). Most users knew little of the safety and protection of privacy policies, ways to guard safety and ways that privacy might be compromised; but most users believe safety and privacy are important functions for online social networking (Agrawal et al., 2002). Online communities construct opportunities for social networking where individuals create profiles providing personal information to enormous global networks of friends and strangers. Advancements in technology and online communications release information increasing the potential for identity theft, affecting the entire campus, from faculty to students. Facebook users reportedly are willing to share vast amounts of personal information (Gross et al., 2005). Potential danger involved with information revelation requires the protection of privacy and user awareness.

Gross, Acquisti and Heinz (2005) examined 4,540 Facebook users for the type and amount of information disclosed and found that an overwhelming majority of profiles provide full access, associating the person with their first and last name, picture, birthday, and hometown. More than half provided their current residence. The majority of users provide fully identifiable information although the site does not require disclosure. The study concluded that few users change the privacy settings and seem willing to provide

personal information to the public. Facebook is perceived as a connection to both the physical and virtual community of the college campus.

As the participation in social networking sites increases, the security need of students requires attention by university administrators, especially student affairs professionals. Evidence shows that increasing awareness of privacy issues utilizing educational programs and orientation provides information to students for personal protection and controlling information that is shared within perceived community and with outside networks. University officials have the ability to construct and monitor online community, serving the culture to provide information, expanding social aspects which further motivate continued involvement in both online and physical campus community. Universities providing information to students still recognize the importance of student responsibility to protect themselves, students' limiting self revelation and creating a controlled online environment (Agrawal et al., 2002). Stanford gives information to students in orientation packets for their first year, and the website includes a URL for additional information regarding safe user habits for OSNW (Agrawal et al., 2002).

Available information on social networking sites can be used for identity theft, stalking, blackmail or lead to embarrassment for some students. Gross, Acquisti and Heinz stated, "College oriented social networking sites provide opportunities to combine online and face-to-face interactions within an ostensibly bounded domain. This makes them different than traditional networking sites: they are communities based on a shared real space" (2005, p. 74). The Millennial generation requires fast, efficient, and direct communication. Millennials are dependent on e-mail as a form of communication and

institutions must do their best to reach them at their level (Carlson, 2005). Current students use many outlets as forms of communication online. Higher education professionals need to be aware of how students are using blogs, and how they can use them to promote student communication (Gross et al., 2005).

As a result of increased access to personal information, institutions must take preventive measures to ensure the safety of confidential data. Opportunities have emerged to develop current practices that encourage a university atmosphere promoting the growth of programs and accessibility for students and faculty. Students have changed dramatically, and practices must be evaluated and addressed to ensure current student needs are met. The student experience is influenced by many factors, and with the increased presence on OSNW, research suggests an interesting dynamic.

## University Community and Retention

Astin (1975, 1993) studied student characteristics and institutional descriptors to define variables affecting student retention. Subgroups of students with shared purpose contribute to community building through group identity and shared practices which enhance a sense of solidarity (Astin, 1975, 1993). Tinto (1975) describes student interaction with institutions and assimilation and student success. Tinto's work founded the theory that student integration is directly correlated with the likelihood of student success. Tinto's work is at the core of John Braxton's varied discussions. Research by Braxton and Lien (2000) and Braxton, Sullivan and Johnson (1997) developed modifications to Tinto's theory and contributed to the researcher's perspective as well as understanding of the underlying variables to student success. Braxton (2000) finds that student cultures are adaptable to meet the growing needs of students. Developing

predictions and defining variables regarding student retention center on concepts around Tinto's theories and Braxton's reappraisal regarding student social integration and institutional departure, suggesting varying dimensions of student retention.

Braxton et al., (1997) reviewed Tinto's theory of college student departure and the assessment concludes that social integration is significant to student retention and integration. Braxton, Vesper and Hosler (1995) conducted a longitudinal analysis of 263 first year students to assess academic and social trends in student transition. Findings support the conclusion that student experiences connecting the institution academic and socially to the individual aid in goal achievement (Braxton, Vesper & Hosler, 1995). Educational institutions influence student involvement and persistence through institutional characteristics to meet student expectations and enhance learning experiences.

## Community Development and Campus Culture

Students are able to identify friends, classmates, and roommates, in turn forming a small community before stepping foot on campus through the creation of OSNW. Networking provides students with an impression of the university community through interaction with virtual community and information gathering online. The environment for universities to market and advertise events online is increasing, providing specific and direct marketing to target audiences (Arthur et al., 2006). Events and announcements are created in online communities, reducing cost to individuals and organizations, as well as meeting students at their desired form of communication. Formal student organizations can create separate groups within these networks, enhancing the distribution of information to club members and creating virtual clubs and subcultures. More informal

organizations can also be created, grouping students with common interests and allowing them to discuss and share information (Rheingold, 2000; Ridings & Gefen, 2004).

Established communities share routines and communicate in shared vocabulary that bind members together socially (Preece, 2004; Rheingold, 2000). Evidence of shared community is seen throughout the literature regarding Facebook and OSNW shared language. Terms familiar to users are foreign to non-users, such as "pokes" and "wall." Community members of Facebook enhance use by sharing information through applications that have nonspecific terms as labels. One of the original features on Facebook, where users choose to "poke" any other member of Facebook, have no exact function but can be employed in any number of ways to imply varied meanings to individual users.

A steady decline in the level of involvement in social organizations influences the potential use of technology, likely to increase with the advent of social networking and increased participation in virtual community (Gemmill & Peterson, 2006; Ridings & Gefen, 2004). Building campus community is possible through participation and involvement in one or more community subsets within the institution. Student utilization of available resources to expand and enhance the traditional academic experiences may be evaluated on a variety of levels. Research regarding extraversion tendencies and personality expression found online communities to serve as a relevant forum through which to communicate personality to enhance real on-campus interactions (Gosling et al., 2007)

Campus culture affects the overall college experience; the climate of student interaction with peers, faculty and university community is distinguished by the values

and attitudes encountered by individual students. The student perception of campus community has the potential to be influenced by a variety of factors. Inadequate integration into the college environment is attributed to insufficient interaction within the community and often cited as influencing a student's decision whether or not to continue matriculation (Braxton, 2000; Tinto, 1975 & 1988; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991). Connectedness between online communities transpires when synergistic commonality exists among members and contributes to further motivating membership among participants (Conrad, 2002). Managers and leaders are responsible for communicating the needs of online communities, putting policies in place that are changeable which further support online communication (Preece, 2004); this further supports evidence that involved administrators are responsible for enhancing real and virtual university community by supporting online interaction.

Knowing that offline-to-online community involvement exists, a purpose is served in enhancing the developing online communities. Real-world interaction enhances online community, and the knowledge of people in real space can serve a purpose in creating online community (Gosling et al., 2007). Communities share information about activities, networking both in person and virtually, or a combination of the both (Preece, 2004). Users of Facebook develop new online connections, but overwhelmingly employ the services to serve as a continuation of previously established offline relationships (Lampe et al., 2006).

Criticisms of literature available must begin by addressing the absence of longitudinal analysis; research is lacking because no college graduate has accessed Facebook throughout high school and the complete four years of college yet. As a result,

there is no current retention evidence proving a connection between high school involvement with virtual university community and institutional graduation rates.

University life is influenced by the culture, determined through aspects of interaction with peers, influencing student exposure to values and attitudes (Kuh, 1990). The potential exists for students to experience particular cultural elements and enhance understanding of university community through sustained, interactive online behavior. The knowledge of student discourse might prove sustainability of virtual communities is dependent upon the interaction of members and commitment to exploring social and cultural meaning via technological interfacing. Virtual communities emphasize content, encouraging social community development that can be monitored without explicit membership in observed groups within the virtual community (Ridings & Gefen, 2004). The presence of community is able to be sustained through regular and significant interaction of members, necessary to retention of students (Anderson, 2001).

#### CHAPTER III

### **METHODOLOGY**

### Subjects

The sample group is a subset of students in the Millennial generation that have all lived on campus in residence halls and currently are attending a public, four year, nationally accredited, comprehensive university. The research institution focuses on senior and graduate level education and serves a student population of approximately 23,000 students. Campus residential facilities house 5,900 students: 4,400 reside in single student housing and 1,400 live in family housing. Of the users who posted residence hall addresses publicly on personal Facebook profiles in October 2007, 659 reside in traditional halls, 188 in suite style housing, 593 in deluxe suites and 249 in apartment style residence halls (not university apartments).

The primary reason for selecting Facebook as the social networking site to examine is founded in the presence of OSNW on college campuses. University communities are the inner core of the Facebook community, which is one of the largest and fastest growing web directories (Read, 2005). Since the site was created, many users identifying themselves as college students are added daily (Read, 2005). College students may perhaps have an inclination to use Facebook over other OSNWs, and provide the geographic boundaries of a university community within the virtual world. To gauge impressions and make a valid statement regarding the population, focus group

members were asked to discuss relevant topics including: locations students access Facebook, intent of use, purpose of chosen activities, whether students have met someone via OSNW (within their student community), student perception of campus community, likes and dislikes of Facebook, and motivators for continued involvement.

The sampling population consisted of Facebook users identified as traditional aged college students enrolled as full-time students during the 2007-2008 school year. Most important for research within focus groups was for participants to be students that are current users of Facebook, and have experience using the program enough to have established a credible understanding and opinions of OSNW. While the focus groups were not exactly representative of a population with identical experience, background and demographics, all participants are Millennial students and reflect a variety of responses.

Students chosen to participate in the study had to be previous and remain current members of the OSNW, Facebook. An email was sent out to users identifying their residence on Facebook (Appendix A), requesting involvement in a one hour focus group to be conducted during the Spring 2008 semester, immediately after obtaining IRB approval. Age of participant was technically irrelevant to the study as the matter at hand is the impact of time invested in using OSNWs for first year college students, but the average age of the subjects according to the Millennial generation would likely provide a sample group with ages ranging between 18 and 25.

Both in-state and out-of-state undergraduates were selected to participate, as long individual Facebook accounts indicated their being residents of traditional residence halls at Oklahoma State University. First year freshman college students were initially preferred; however, included undergraduate students ranging from freshman to recent

graduates (graduation occurred two days prior to the last focus group session). Also, transfer students, not a specific focus of this study, were present in the final group. The goal was to provide evidence that increased time spent on social networking websites has an impact on the development of campus culture, student interpretation and perceptions of the university environment.

Three separate focus groups were scheduled for college freshman living in the same residence hall. The goal was for a diverse group of OSNW users with some prior-to-college OSNW experience to enhance the study results, but a challenge came in setting specific guidelines to guarantee much more than the specific user demographics in this type of study. Initial recruiting efforts entailed emails inviting participation sent from the student investigator's university email account (Microsoft Outlook) to 137 self-identifying potential participants, current users of Facebook identifying themselves as university freshman, residing on campus in a residence hall and providing a personal email address.

As a result of timing in the semester and lack of student response to emails requesting involvement, modifications were made to recruiting participants. 177 emails were sent requesting participant involvement in focus groups to undergraduate members of the university community identifying themselves on Facebook. Two respondents attended the April 23 focus group session (see Table 1) and two respondents attended April 24 (see Table 2). A third focus group was conducted May 6 to meet the minimum set requirements for total sample group (see Table 3).

TABLE 1

Information Summary, Focus Group One, April 23, 2008

Name (alias)	Gender	Birthday (Month, Year)	Expected Graduation
Bethany	Female	May, 1985	May, 2008
Jacob	Male	May, 1988	May, 2010

TABLE 2

Information Summary, Focus Group Two, April 24, 2008

Name (alias)	Gender	Birthday (Month, Year)	Expected Graduation
Wilma	Female	August, 1988	May, 2011
Claude	Male	August, 1988	May, 2010

TABLE 3

Information Summary, Focus Group Three, May 6, 2008

Name (alias)	Gender	Birthday (Month, Year)	Expected Graduation
Trixiebelle	Female	March, 1985	Alumni 2008
Eunice	Female	21 years old	May, 2009
Shirline	Female	September, 1986	May, 2009
Lorraine	Female	March, 1986	Alumni 2008
Misty Dawn	Female	May, 1984	Alumni 2008
Mary Lou	Female	21 years old	May, 2010
Norma	Female	November, 1989	May, 2011
Garth	Male	October, 1981	May, 2009

In the end three separate focus groups were conducted; the first two focus groups consisted of two participants each, the third focus group was held to triangulate findings and had eight respondents. The total sampling population resulted in three males and nine females, all between the ages of 18 and 26. The groups of OSNW users with prior-to-college OSNW experience met in conference style rooms, signed informed consent forms upon arrival and addressed questions regarding focus group participation.

Additional information regarding social networking and building campus community was gathered through open forum discussion regarding habits and specific uses discussing current uses, comparison of user traits, speculations and concerns about

the impact on the campus community. Over the course of three one-hour focus group meetings, these 12 OSNW users shared their habits and dialogue transpired reflecting on user traits, speculation and concerns about the impact on campus community was able to reveal information from a variety of users in a relatively strict period of time.

#### Instruments

Focus groups were conducted; procedures examining areas of student Facebook use are defined in Appendix B and C sections. Focus groups were chosen because of the ability to allow for exploring the dynamics of attitudes and opinions in the context of participant interaction. Discussion encourages participants to express views spontaneously, providing a safe environment to express views. Group discussions foster creativity and a greater range of thought/experiences than singular interviews would provide.

The goal of the discussion groups was not to reach a group consensus; rather, it was to elicit responses on a full range of concepts by a chosen sample of respondents regarding Facebook use. Specific themes guiding questions during focus groups included: experience behavior, opinion value, knowledge, sensory, feeling and background. The question goal developed into seeking responses, not particular answers and required questioning in a manner to elicit a response from various types of group participants. (i.e. Background: Describe background use; Opinion value: Why do you value Facebook?; Knowledge: What is the make-up of your Facebook friend list?; Sensory: Why do you prefer Facebook or MySpace?; et cetera) Subject participation levels in discussion was important; high involvement overall from all subject was present, reflecting the meaning of this topic and presence inside academic communities.

### Research Design and Procedure

Qualitative interviewing obtains data through the interaction and use of language shared by the interviewees, and through asking open-ended questions within a flexible outline. Valuable subject inquiry should be neutral, sensitive to subjects and clear to the interviewee (Patton, 2001).

To prepare for the focus groups an interview guide (Appendix B) was generated to prepare researchers to conduct focus groups. A pre-test of questions was conducted with a few selected convenience sampling groups of differing perspectives to guide question development. The interview guide was revised following development and critique of questions for discussion. Pre-testing also was used to remove multiple, leading, and closed response questions from the study. Upon IRB approval, the sampling frame was created to identify focus groups from residence halls based on the highest number of reporting individuals residing in a predominantly freshman residence hall. Recruitment of participants was done through email sent to researcher-identified residents who publicly disclosed their residence on personal Facebook accounts.

Logistics were managed, making arrangements to reserve a room in the researcher's office building on campus. Reservations were confirmed for three two-hour sessions, verifying meeting times and locations with room schedulers. Final dates for focus groups were Wednesday, April 23, Thursday, April 24 and Tuesday, May 6. Arrangements also included organizing equipment for recording focus groups such as note taking and digital voice recorders.

Following the scheduling of final focus groups at appropriate times, moderation of

focus group occurred. Focus groups were facilitated by the student researcher and entailed introducing participants, discussion and questions. Moderation began with explanation of the focus group, how long the process would take, what feedback participants would receive, and confidentiality was emphasized. Facilitator goals included open communication on selected topics using broad, open-ended questions, probing for additional information but keeping the discussion focused and maintaining productive conversation. Questions contained within the interviews are attached as Appendix C. Audio recording was made on a hand-held digital voice recorder and deleted once transcriptions were recorded. A doctoral student in Higher Education took a record of notes during discussion to clarify participant testimony and enhance transcript reporting. Notes taken by the doctoral student described the setting and participant imagery. The notes enhanced the data by indicating gestures and movements students made that illustrate emotions and implied meanings.

The setting of the focus group was a deliberately academic environment. The first two focus groups, with two students in attendance at each, were conducted in a conference style room, around a long table, with participants sitting across from each other near the center of the table. The third focus group with eight students in attendance was held in a classroom with students sitting at a cluster of tables.

A deliberate attempt was made to conduct focus groups using the same procedures for all three discussions; adjustments were made to individual groups based on differences in room set-up. Also, the facilitator role changed in different group settings when necessary to guide the discussion and topics within to encourage discussion or to expand upon points brought up by interviewees.

The transcriber was able to decipher voices in the two smaller focus groups and identified speakers as "male student", "female student" and "researcher" within the transcribed text. For the larger focus group the transcriber identified the interviewer within the transcript and referred to all participants as "interviewee" to clearly state when the speaker changed in the text. The interviewer later listened to the audio to ensure correct transcription and identify speakers within the larger focus group and assign pseudonyms for ease in communicating data.

Focus group discussions were transcribed to prepare data and analyze focus group data quantifying OSNW use, including a post summary paraphrasing most salient points of discussion identifying the benefits and detriments of Facebook for communications between students, student and faculty interaction, student and administrators. Transcripts and tapes from focus groups were retained in a locked file in the researcher's office. Following the end of the study all tapes and recordings were destroyed. The final steps comprise outcomes reporting, writing qualitative reports and final presentation of results.

# Data Analysis Technique

The study uses appropriate statistical techniques through various applications. Each focus group discussion was thoroughly reviewed to establish themes and record content of discussions. The focus groups are summarized within the body of the study with subsections including participants, key findings, perceptions of existing conditions and what data can be collected in the future. Quotes included in the report may have been slightly edited, strictly for the purposes of removing 'ums' and 'ahs' in order to present clear and succinct concepts.

Credibility is achieved through a data check by participants in the study to conclude whether data provides a realistic description of the population. Triangulation is able to verify data using multiple sources. Interview notes, available Facebook profiles and investigator input all provide support. Peer debriefing suggests a high degree of understanding aiding in perception and analysis of data (Robinson & Lai, 2006).

The research approach established a credible conclusion to suggest areas of research requiring more focused investigation. The advantage of a focus group's ability to present a range of experience and opinions enables the researcher to collect data through group interaction. Discussion from comparing data between focus groups is beneficial. As a result, research will facilitate improved decision making and the practical management of Facebook within a college community.

## Organization of Data

Focus group discussions were transcribed by a confidential professional transcription service. Observation notes, handwritten by both researcher and graduate student observer, were transferred and typed into a word document. Data were organized to analyze observation notes, focus group transcriptions and sources of data. Participant identity was kept confidential and names were not used in the research study. To protect the identity of participants, pseudonyms were used in presentation of data.

Paper copies of interviews were meticulously read and highlighted to identify themes. Careful indexing of data in coordinating different sources allowed the researcher to extract information. A carbon copy saved on the computer was then made of interviews with highlighted themes copied into a word document to capture themes and cross-reference among documents. Comments were inserted from observation notes and

thematic findings within the interview document to highlight themes across different groups. Thematic findings were highlighted and revisions required multiple readings and various perspectives and approaches to view the document entirely. Observation notes and transcriptions required many approaches to familiarize the researcher with and subsequently analyze the data. Formal and informal discussions shared through peer debriefing to test working hypotheses aided in finding alternate explanations.

Answers to questions that stress the context of how the social experience is created and given meaning through membership in OSNWs were sought. The Tinto model is especially useful as a means to identify cultural themes found in interviews, as the influence that Facebook has on the institutional culture is dependent on student use. Analysis of relationships between processes are shared to provide the reader descriptive data and generate emergent research questions. Descriptions, patterns and relationships between categories revealed similarities among groups and provide some descriptors to further address possible cause and effect patterns.

#### CHAPTER IV

### **FINDINGS**

## Presentation of Materials

Respondents in the focus groups offered valuable insights providing a vast amount of qualitative data that would be unavailable from paper surveys. Facebook usage can be understood better through focus group interaction by revealing the degree of emotional interest and investment. The complexities of insights available as a result of this study grant the perspective to analyze the relationship between student involvement on campus and with the Facebook community. Because of the number of respondents and their selection, the study is not representative in the statistical sense and findings are unable to be generalized beyond the sample of study.

Each focus group was unique. Tables included in the methodology section clarify student name (alias selected), gender, age and anticipated graduation date. The first group (Table 1) was two unaffiliated students: Bethany, female senior and Jacob, male sophomore. The second focus group (Table 2) was a dating couple: Wilma, freshman female and Claude, sophomore male. The third focus group (Table 3) consisted of eight students ranging from freshman to recent alumni – some participants graduated just two days before the focus group was conducted. The third focus group also included students that had attended the large regional institution since their freshman year (three students)

while the other five had previously attended a small two year institution serving as a 'gateway' program to the four year institution.

Convenience in accessing information regarding potential "friends", especially the ability to social search with ease: to locate old friends and the convenience of friend searching through mutual friends and acquaintances, were all mentioned by participants in the study. Limited phone minutes also motivates students to continue to use Facebook as communication is possible with many people for little to no cost to the user (depending on site of access). Students mentioned reaching Facebook from computers at home, work, university computer labs, libraries, public restaurants and local coffee shops, and from cellular phones. Continuations of academic and social contact are described through OSNW users reporting virtual community maintenance. Research identifies categories that reveal overlap and obvious patterns.

#### Themes

Overarching categories most directly related to the research questions expose the patterns that emerged within the analysis process. The major themes that emerged include: Motivation for use; Safety; Community development, Creeping, lurking and stalking; and Evidence of community interaction prior to enrollment.

### *Motivation for Use*

Students reported the motivation for continued use of OSNWs to include networking, socializing, projecting personalities, finding others with similar interests or activities, social searching, researching peers and finding acceptance within the university community. Entertainment, social searching and event planning are some of the more repeated specific motivators highlighted in the following discussion of findings.

Bethany and Jacob reported mutual motivation for use as social searching, peer correspondence and peer pressure in joining the OSNW communities. Bethany stated she prefers Facebook to contact "the next stage of friends that you don't really talk to that often... Facebook is a good way to keep in touch with the people that you normally wouldn't have kept in touch with." Both students addressed continuation of friendships that exist face-to-face. The types of relationships established in residence halls influenced the type of Facebook involvement, an example of the contributions that students made to conditions that shaped the development of the online community. As Jacob states, "I only got Facebook because I was kind of forced to."

Bethany addressed a challenge in changing habits of using Facebook after daily use over a four-year period of time, "It's going to be hard to stop using it after being on it everyday for four years. It's going to be nearly impossible to stop using it." Jacob addresses the fact that alumni from his fraternity continue contact with members when they graduate and get "real jobs". A challenge for both comes in the habit that using Facebook has become such a prominent choice in ways to communicate with peers; Jacob even brought up the fact that peers set Facebook as their internet homepage when the web browser appears.

All three focus groups brought up cell phone minutes and accessibility of internet as motivators for using Facebook. Technology appears to provide an outlet for limitations set by other necessary materials for Millennial students. While they use mobile phones on a regular basis, this notes the distinction that staying connected on a high level of interaction is available through the internet and OSNW. As Claude stated, "A lot of my friends from high school have gone off to colleges in other states and I don't

have half their phone numbers." Staying connected with friends in other states and family in other countries, and making connections with potential friends across the world were reported as communication users are seeking through online social networking.

Safety

Participating students identified many safety concerns, from person safety to information and identity protection. Some students were discouraged from attending parties that are posted on Facebook because of problems associated with police notification and alleged university administration monitoring OSNWs. Other concerns regarding safety included identity theft, stalking, profile manipulation by peers, employer information seeking, peer profiling and harassment.

Many discussed the feeling that Facebook is safer than MySpace or other social networking websites, but few were able to articulate legitimate or well-founded reasons why. Several expressed the belief that faculty either are not or should not be present on Facebook, yet are aware that employers may seek information via OSNWs. Most participants mentioned and were aware of faculty presence on Facebook but referred to the presence as awkward and unwelcome at times, but aware of the positive implications of membership and interaction. Cited as reasons that users may not appreciate faculty presence were the difference in community interaction and accessibility of information that students prefer faculty or university officials not see (i.e. pictures of students on vacation). Misty Dawn stated she would prefer to meet with faculty during scheduled office hours rather than through a less-formal communication style. However, Garth stated his appreciation for the less-formal interaction provided through OSNWs as a way

to communicate less pertinent matters, while Trixiebelle in the same discussion believed being Facebook friends with a current professor was "crossing the line".

An implied feeling of safety is shared among Facebook users, drawing attention to the importance of proper training among users. Both Jacob and Bethany addressed the influence that OSNW can have on employer relations through different examples. Personality projection that may be intended for private use and viewing by friends is available for the majority of the public. Anonymous searching of Facebook may yield personally identifiable information which is obtainable without being "friends" with the user. Bethany recalls her former job, "We would get on if we were interviewing someone to come and work for us, we would get on and look at their profiles...it wasn't up to us whether we hired them or not, so it really didn't matter... if you're in a position to be hiring people and you do place judgment on things like that then it's very possible to ruin your chances." Jacob added that he was aware of a student applying for a job and following an interview making a current status update (which is accessible to most users if privacy settings are not changed) stating his desire to have an easy job with minimal effort and was promptly notified by the employer of terminating candidacy for employment.

"It's frustrating if people have their profile set to private because if they have a picture of them that's from far away... you can't click on it and make it bigger. But my profile is set to private because I don't want anybody seeing mine, but if other people have theirs set to private, it's very frustrating. But I always have a picture of me so you know it's me, so you can add me if you want," said Bethany, further addressing privacy issues discussed by Jacob and Bethany about community information sharing. The

benefit of semi-private information is that friends of friends can now be notified of mutual acquaintances online. However, a sense of security is found in students like Bethany setting their profiles to private but still seeking information of friends. The larger focus group brought up the desire to have information private but accessibility to peer community members' personal data.

Trixiebelle said, "I like how you can block people. You don't want them to see your stuff, you don't want to see them." Eunice preferred the option of blocking applications in addition to people, saying, "I like...updates that show the pictures are posted, but a lot of the wall comments get old because you don't really need to see what everybody says to each other." Students indicated the preference of privacy settings and the appreciation of knowing friends' updates but would prefer if personal information was not shared. Information gathering is important to OSNW users, and the development of community is another lens through which to understand the importance of sharing information and developing community.

### Community development

Focus group discussants brought up the topic that many students including student employees in the computer labs on campus can be seen using Facebook at during hours of lab operation. In addition to the presence of Facebook in campus computer labs, the presence within residence halls was discussed. Students communicate between halls through Facebook rather than traveling to meet face-to-face, and instead of telephoning. Facebook has become a preferred means of communication for many students of the focus group participants within the university community.

The inclination towards developing community through OSNWs seems natural for students within the university setting. "I added people from classes (on Facebook as friends) as an underclassmen because it was more relaxed and you saw each other more often... You spent a lot more time together so you got to know each other better and there were more, it seems like there were more like friend groups within your major or within each class. So if you knew this person, you got to know these two or three people," said Bethany.

Jacob added, "I added anyone that I know in classes. I'm in all huge classes so I don't actually sit next to the same person twice...I know a guy that all of his speech group added each other so they can communicate faster without calling. So class wise it can be good in certain situations; like if you have a project or you're with a group, add each other so you can get conversation and information relayed pretty quickly." Evident in interviews is the indicator that many students believe peers are behaving in a similar fashion and utilize OSNW to gather information rapidly. But Jacob still expressed frustration and disgust in peers that add without concern to actual face-to-face relationships, simply adding friends because they heard names in class. Beyond these facts, participants went on to explain some purposes in preference of OSNW usage rather than calling or face-to-face interaction.

The ability to save time and communicate timely material is a benefit to OSNW users. Students reportedly enjoy the convenience of communicating with large numbers of people or simply people whom users may have limited contact. Claude and Wilma especially enjoyed the new chat feature enabled during the week the focus group met. Wilma said, "I guess it can get in the way of seeing people, but if you could only spend

five minutes due to walking over there, or you an spend ten minutes chatting, I'd rather spend ten in chatting than five minutes walking, five minutes seeing." The ability to communicate with many people through the same venue allows students to connect with friends and exchange information in a preferred manner. Discussion also extended to community, socializing and accessibility of information.

Personal friendships have been extended to OSNW as Shirline demonstrates by the several wedding invitations she received in a short period of time. "I got five wedding invitations this past week," Shirline said. Also, organizations and student groups are able to utilize OSNW to send messages and communicate with members. "I guess a lot of times there's somebody I'm meeting with or in an organization with that I don't have their number or phone number and I can find them on Facebook then I can email them," said Eunice. Her sister, Trixiebelle went on to say, "and the people set up events on Facebook. We have a tutor BBQ to go to tonight ...we all got on (Facebook) and said "This is what we're doing and this is what time. Be there or don't."" Students are able to plan study groups and organizations are able to plan and execute large events. The ability to reach friends is important, yet the ability to reach strangers that are members of a shared real community is also a prospect in OSNW. Groups also address the potential to connect with lost items and other interaction that may be deemed of an important nature.

Students were reconnected with lost items that are valuable to their academic experience. OSNW enabled both faculty and students to interact in a way that is unique for a university environment and no longer is limited to dropping items off at a lost and found and perhaps never being reunited. Lorraine gives the account, "I left a hard drive

thing in the computer lab and I guess he (a professor) found it; he had a class in there and just emailed me, "Hey, I had a class and I found this in my computer. It's going to be in my office." I thought it was pretty neat. It was a \$35 thing. Just looked me up off my name." Lorraine appreciated the fact that items were returned, but students are wary of dangers associated with meeting strangers no matter how familiar they may seem. Eunice recalled a similar experience, "I got a book back, like a \$150 book that someone was like, "Hey, turned in to this office. They are holding it for you." I was like, "Hey, thanks strange person." Group discussion further provides a possible example of changes in communication within communities and the accessibility of social information.

Not only are users able to keep in touch with old friends, new friendships are able to be formed and continued online. Bethany addresses changes in communication and campus social norms. "Normally, if you just meet somebody one time, you don't even remember their last name. Maybe not even the first name, so it's like you would never know how to get in contact with them and you might not even recognize them if you saw them again. So if you can remember long enough to go home and add them to Facebook, (laughter) then that's somebody that you might keep in touch with that otherwise you probably would never see again," she said. Users note the continuation of friendships over and over again in the study and the importance of social extension to users can not be overstated.

### Creeping, Lurking, Stalking:

Within the study, all three groups used the term 'creeping' in a variety of ways. The word was not used in other research found, and the discussion yielded insight beyond what Preece (2004) provides regarding socially acceptable OSNW habits. "I know

people that their homepage is Facebook...and they have the password saved so every time they go turn on the internet, it's logged in Facebook. I know someone that was like, "God, it's been like an hour since I've been on Facebook." I'm like," Something's wrong with you right there. You are too much of a creeper," Jacob said. Over use of OSNW is viewed as being a 'creeper,' yet individuals may not always identify themselves as creepers, although they admit to 'creeping' on friends pages.

To continue the discussion and define the term further in regards to users that display creeper tendencies, many references are made in the transcripts to creeping, stalking and lurking. Claude discussed motivation for use in relation to safety concerns. "I mean it really wasn't until I came here to college that people said, "Oh my gosh, there's this thing called Facebook. You should totally join it." I was somewhat hesitant at first because I've heard things about MySpace and people hacking those things or people stalking you and I thought Facebook was safer because you could privatize certain aspects of it from people from seeing. Like if you have a new friend request, then you can say, "Only see my limited profile," which only shows them a few things, versus not showing you everything that you support or whatnot," Claude said.

Further discussion revealed the belief of Claude and Wilma that information can be 'creeped' on for a long period of time, regardless of removing personal information. Also the ability to present limited information gives users the desirable capacity to limit what can be creeped on within their page. The description of what a creeper is was defined clearly by focus group users who provide more data regarding how to classify a creeper. Wilma discusses turning friends down because they appeared to be a creeper. "You can get the creeper application, which detects who visits your profile everyday. Or

you just look at them and they just got that, "Hey, how you doin?" look on their face on their profile picture and you're just like, No. No. (laughter) You're weird," Wilma said. The Creeper application is a unique feature allowing users to view who might be viewing their pages on a regular basis, giving the option to make social choices through OSNW based on information not readily accessible to average users unless they download the application to their profile.

Members also discussed some of their self-proclaimed creeping tendencies. "I totally creep all the pictures (laughter by many). I'm not going to lie, I'm a creeper." says, Shirline. The application of photo sharing allows Facebook users to share an unlimited number of photos, which may be a reason many participants brought up the preference for Facebook in part due to photo sharing. This is also a great example of how the term creeping is not always used to explain a negative habit. The following quotes share the ways in which students defined creeping behavior in the third focus group.

"Looking at other people's pictures if you see they've added one," said Misty Dawn. "Being nosy," said Shirline. "Surfing," Norma said. "Silent gossip," Trixiebelle said. "Wall to walls," said Lorraine. "I was looking for somebody just the other day and Trixiebelle and I put our heads together and there he was. Found him, no problem. Surprising how easy it can be," said Eunice, referring to seeking information about a male peer she met at a party and only learned his first name. "But I knew where he was from, because I remember talking to him. I don't know why I remember," Shirline added. "It (his profile) came up and everything!" Eunice said.

The term creeping is an all-inclusive definition that includes descriptions of the ways in which users typically utilize OSNW in addition to the ways in which avid users

may enable OSNW to enhance their social experience. Students meeting in person are able to develop more complete impressions based on a profile that decisively projects desired personality and information.

More discussion provides the insight users have to share with incoming students regarding responsible OSNW use. Interestingly enough the same student that earlier proclaimed to be a creeper, Shirline, also suggests that incoming students limit their time on OSNW and specifically suggests using the site sparingly and to limit, 'creeping on other people's sites.' Trixiebelle added, "Just do it to stay in touch with friends and don't add all this stuff. You can take three hours to download music, just skip it. Add your friends, email them and be done with it." Garth's suggestion specifically reflects caution in use, "If I had advice I'd say don't just add anybody and everybody who says they are this or a member of (university)." Furthermore, Eunice added "Don't post your phone number or your address; that is the stupidest thing ever." Community is extended through participant advice and knowledge of acceptable user behavior.

Evidence of community interaction prior to enrollment

Most specifically related to the initial research question is the discussion Wilma and Claude had regarding their interaction with students prior to their enrollment at the university. "He and I were in the same group for "This is the Life," and we go out and take pictures and then they upload them on Facebook and then there was a Facebook group just for "This is the Life" and so all the high school students were part of Facebook they could find their host on Facebook, if they wanted to (prior to attending the event). Just recently he (Claude) started a Facebook group and we posted all the pictures that we took during that weekend. Sometimes we still get together for Group Two activities and

then we take those pictures and we send them to our high school kids. We are currently planning a Group Two get together for next year," Wilma said.

"Sometime when they get here next year, because they've all decided to come to (university) because they had so much fun!" Claude said. "Hey, recruiting people so the university has more money," he added. The group page created for their student group is private so only members of the group can access the page and know of the existence. "We started it so that they could see all the pictures and they could put them on their profiles from the weekend because we took pictures from every single big landmark on campus. There's pictures of us in the fountain, jumping off steps, at the stadium, just all that stuff (campus artifacts) and it's just a great way to remember. WE also had it so they could put "I have a class in this building and I have no idea where it is," or "I'm having trouble getting this figured out. How do I pick out this on rooms? So there's a way for them to kind of ask questions for one of the four of us, that were group leaders to find where stuff is," Wilma concluded.

Each student or group evolves the use of Facebook communications to meet their personal needs for information and communication within their specific community. Wilma and Claude are student leaders within the residence hall community and indicated a preference for using Facebook to reach peers on campus to program and organize activities of a social and academic nature.

#### CHAPTER V

### **DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS**

# **Discussion of Research Questions**

The evidence of new student communication with the campus community prior to enrollment is apparent, but not for all students involved in the study and is not necessarily a manageable hypotheses with the group selected to participate in the study. Facebook was not available in high school for many of the users in the study, but for those it was, there is evidence of academic and social integration. Student leaders demonstrated through discussion ways in which the physical campus is extended; OSNW enables campus community members to interact with high school students in attempts of fostering relationships with potential future university community members.

Data generated from focus groups provide descriptive and relevant information, and themes chosen highlight the maximum variation from the sampling to give the broadest range of information.

## Motivation for use

Ellison, Lampe and Steinfeld's (2006) discussion is enhanced through focus groups in the understanding of the power peer influences have on OSNW usage. User appreciation for accessibility of information and habits shared provide that students will continue to seek OSNW usage for entertainment, social searching, event planning and information gathering. Students addressed a preference for Facebook over university

academic programs like Blackboard, as well as the regular university website. Some faculty members are aware of the preference and have enabled courses to be accessible through Facebook.

Millennials are techno-savvy consumers of education, prepared for collective learning and share the value that most everything is available instantaneously (Denham & Gadbow, 2003). Friendships are extended beyond average knowledge upon initial meetings and social information is now accessible. Peers in residence halls influence involvement. Students on university campuses engage in social searching about peers, new roommates, potential love interests, even professors. Formal interaction is almost postponeable because the university community is accessible for students in advance of enrollment at the institution. Universities can take advantage of this by ensuring pertinent information is accessible to meet student demand and engage in OSNW partnerships.

Safety

An unfounded sense of security could be thwarted by exposing users to the risks, in addition to altering current default settings to provide more privacy and require users to decide what information is disclosed and to whom. The concept that Facebook is in any way "safer" than MySpace is unfounded as safety implies a sense of privacy, which is opposite of the intent of OSWN as information revelation.

Remarkable to the findings in this study is that students were recruited based on their availability of information and by simply posting their first and last names on their Facebook profiles. "Private" profiles indeed provide enough information that members of the university community can search the shared-web directory for email addresses and

access personal information quickly. Personally identifiable data is incredibly accessible and requires the attention of university officials, especially because OSNW is influencing vast social interaction. Even considering user ability to change privacy settings and default security, the accessibility of information due to personal sharing is overwhelming. An implied feeling of safety should be of concern for users of any OSNW as information is readily accessible.

## Community development

Kuh and Whitt (1988) describe persistent patterns of norms, values, practices, beliefs and assumptions that shape behavior of individuals and groups as being able to provide a reference to interpret events and actions in communities. Facebook users shared exact descriptions for shared behavior and usage patterns to describe their university Facebook community. The university environment influenced responses, and event planning was mentioned by several participants as a key feature in their OSNW habits. Such habits reinforced the findings of Rheingold (2000) and Kuh and Whitt (1988) regarding student involvement and community development.

Students in the study reportedly enjoyed applications on a limited and varying basis. Being able to plan activities socially and academically are priorities for OSNW users, and the event application on Facebook is useful for many students. Several indicated the picture application as a favorite, but many noted the frustration found in application spam, where applications are overloading and too much unnecessary information is being shared among members.

What must be noted is that students devoting energy to a variety of activities benefit the most intellectually and personally in comparison with peers that do not take

advantage of varied opportunities (Astin, 1993; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991). To enhance student learning, the institution must make classroom knowledge more useful and encourage students to expend efforts outside the classroom to educationally purposeful activities (Kuh & Whitt, 1988; Kuh, 1995b). As the classroom may be the only location where students and faculty meet (Tinto, 1993), Facebook may serve a particular function of integrating students when physical presence within the university community is not possible.

Kuh and Whitt (1988), describe the ways in which to interpret the campus culture as, "ceremonials, rites, and rituals on a college campus give form to communal life. They enrich the campus ethos and allow interpretations and meanings to be made of special events" (p. 67). As Wilma from the second focus groups said, "If Facebook wasn't there, I don't think anything would be lost necessarily, but it is like a better resource like as potential to help out in ways like it would be harder to find out things other ways. Just like posters or like word of mouth. It's like information travels a lot faster if you have Facebook than without it."

Entry into the Facebook community is much associated with becoming a member of the university, fitting as a ritual of sorts among students which define individual experiences. Tinto's 1993 model of student academic departure supports that the institution must provide opportunities for members of the community to establish social networks (Braxton, 2000), which is supported by Facebook's utility on campus. Tinto's model to retain students includes the adaptation by institutions to accommodate and incorporate students into organizational culture.

Within culture theory, shared language highlights what communities often carry out in practice (Rheingold, 2000). The community of OSNW users with whom the researcher met shared a word that may imply a different meaning to non-users, often referring to the term "creeping" within their conversations.

## Creeping, Lurking, Stalking:

Creeping was described by users who identify as creepers, reinforcing the fact that persons with similar characteristics and behaviors are able to recognize those traits within their community. Creeping could be intended as a derogatory term or as a way to describe excessive OSNW usage. Participant mention of creeping influenced the addition of the term "creeping" to discussion terms included in the introduction and added an element of detail in describing student habits on Facebook.

Similar to Preece's (2004) definition of the term "lurking" on OSNWs, the expression "creeping" is frequently brought up by student users. Positive connotations of creeping include the socially acceptable activity of viewing friend's pictures and wall-to-wall conversations. The negative undertones of creeping are that some spend too much time creeping, to the extent where behavior is borderline stalking. Ways in which social rules are enforced include the creeper-application where users can identify and block unwanted OSNW users from accessing information if wanted. Expectations socially are extended virtually and are passed on within the community, which then requires members to follow guidelines. An example is Jacob's removal from MySpace as a result of misconduct on MySpace (spamming); social rules are enforced by the company to safeguard users against "spammers" while peers also make suggestions regarding acceptable behavior in peer-searching.

### **Policy Implications**

The event planning function is present for students utilizing OSNW, therefore individual safety must be maintained through institutional awareness. Administrators must be knowledgeable of the student purpose in using OSNWs like Facebook to serve as a proactive guide in the virtual campus community. Suggestions for universities to manage OSNW are recommendations that support students as well as institutional goals. Students use Facebook to communicate and to seek information; OSNW enables students to access information on demand. Academic administrations may use current technology to provide bulletin type information about classes and campus activities, assignments, and many other notices to enhance the student information base. Students wish to maintain their privacy within the academic community, and institutions need to offer information within the OSNW communities while respecting student privacy and rights of expression.

Universities can make Facebook even more applicable to student lives and the university, assisting students to find peers in courses, study partners and aid in planning social engagements. Motivation for administrators to actively pursue OSNW community development is tied to the primary purpose of the device which is to facilitate open communication and dialogue. The trend of pre-existing social networks to produce participation among new community members and across environments is quickly spread by peers. University applications contribute to the popularity of OSNWs. Institutions may choose to lead community development by using networks such as Facebook to connect students and the institution.

Administrators need not be obsessive regarding OSNW use, but certainly need to be responsible for educating students regarding responsible OSNW usage regarding university policies. In addition to possible violations of university policy that may be present with increased OSNW presence, universities may maintain minimal Facebook monitoring efforts, respecting the First Amendment rights of students while maintaining the policies in place by universities regarding images, statements of illegal activities and other conduct matters.

### **Discussion of Limitations**

Written reports of interviews struggle to fully detail interactions. Readers may be less able to interpret individual experiences that are not descriptive of overall user experience. Research supports the potential that conducting a study across various environments may yield more wide-ranging results beyond what a single institution study can provide (Braxton & Lien, 2000). The larger focus group generated less discussion and as a result provided less detailed information than those in smaller group conversation. The attempt of focus groups was to describe social interaction, yet in doing so was requiring social interaction under unusual circumstances.

# Summary of Findings

Surprisingly, students in the study seem to view themselves as less-involved in OSNW compared with peers, but this perception may be distorted as there is no statistical measurement of usage patterns involved in this particular study. A challenge is found in encouraging users within a community to limit information sharing when the purpose of OSNW is to expose personal information. Management of OSNWs requires institutions be aware of student involvement but still allow students the privacy necessary in

conducting personal communications. Millennial Facebook students want to maintain privacy, while at the same time celebrate their need for timely information and instantaneous communication. Stated needs for information and the ability to communicate and "keep up" with peers, classes and social calendars all outline the role for the Academy as a significant affiliate participant in OSNWs. Facebook users emphasize that OSNW is a preferred communication venue, but embrace access by higher education when the contact fulfills specific information demands.

The indication for students to discontinue use is not present, therefore administrators must address safety and potential concerns with students. The impact on a campus community is yet to be fully understood, and simply warning or discouraging use of OSNW is a negative and useless approach for administrators to take. The same is to be said of many other situations on college campuses: Telling a student "no" may reinforce a desire to identify with personal space where "we" as administrators are not welcome. Rather, becoming a part of the community provides administrators the ability to monitor and participate, further developing campus community. If active engagement in OSNW is a choice, administration and faculty must be willing to rethink current situations and address the technological changes and evolving demands of students.

Blogging communities can be utilized by faculty to create an online collaborative learning environment, enabling students to share written works online, providing interaction with peers that in turn review and comment on projects. Faculties have the opportunity to utilize comment options to afford feedback intended for student work in progress. Study abroad students are able to remain in contact with peers and their institution as a result of technological increases and the influx of online communities.

Students are able to create travel blogs and communicate via OSNWs, blogging about travel and education could aid in recruiting efforts of study abroad programs. OSNWs proide an excellent opportunity for Millennial students to interact with the virtual university community utilizing technology they have grown up accessing. Online communities are an excellent platform for students to remain connected with the university community.

### CHAPTER VI

### **CONCLUSION**

This study explored the relationship between Facebook and OSNW use and academic and social integration, as well as identified group specific practices at a large research institution in the Midwest/South as alleged by the students selected as subjects from the institution. Most notable is the influence that peers have on student interaction with the university and the severe pressure from peers that motivates students to participate in OSNW. An important outcome in this study is the evidence of communication with the campus prior to enrollment and the relationship between campus involvement and social integration. Universities should never underestimate the significance of meeting in person and the value of interaction among students and within the larger university community. Positive change is warranted, integrating opportunities for development, with the possibility to create learning activities and communications within the boundaries of OSNWs.

The role that OSNW plays in recruiting students is present in focus group discussions but there is varying degree to which OSNW played a role for each student. A deliberate effort by the Academy to reach students prior to college enrollment may well increase enrollment success. Additionally, a calculated effort to provide information as

an affiliate of OSNW will enhance the student academic experience, which should lead to increased retention and graduation success.

### **Future Studies**

Future studies should include changes to address limitations identified within this study. Sample size would preferably be larger and respondents would have the opportunity to participate in focus groups that are consistent in size. Future study should provide a more random group and groups that are not affiliated prior to focus group participation. Otherwise, if the groups are not random, the study could be conducted with repeated observations of a convenience sample. The students who participated in the eight student focus group would be an excellent starting off point for a convenience sample, as several were students at a two-year school in preparation for transferring to the four-year institution. Conducting the study in another region could present different findings, including speech patterns and habits of use.

Personality projection may indeed differ from what is reported. Gosling et al. (2007) found Facebook as a valid means of expression for personalities, although there may be a variation in the way students view themselves and impressions made on peers. Because students reported personal habits and perspectives, it would be helpful for findings to evaluate what is accurately reported by participants regarding what they post on sites. Participant data verification and validation have the ability to gauge the degree to which the individual sites reflect what is 'real' and what is posted as a joke or misleading information would be most appropriate. Future studies include using research as a guide to structure survey instruments, (e.g., questionnaires). Exploration in the future should include investigation of large-scale patterns exhibited through collective

action that can not be captured in this individual study in order to characterize user behavior.

Multiple interactions with respondents would yield more detailed results than are obtained in this study. Prolonged engagement would build trust and obtain a wider scope of data. Continued inquiry would provide the opportunity for students to journal habits and reflect more on the process of research and quantify OSNW usage. However, given the length of time, the study is appropriate for purposeful investigation. Overall the most helpful would be to have more respondents in the study. A more detailed, quantitative study would follow students from post secondary education through graduation, with a statistical evaluation of nonparametric data, correlating the use of OSNW and academic recruitment, satisfaction, graduation and first employment success rates.

## **Summary of Conclusion**

Facebook is a verb; focus group participants state they "Facebook" one another on a regular basis and will continue to do so. Shared language among users allows them to state whether they find peers to be "hot or not", replying with "no, you're ugly", "stalking" friends and "creeping pages" until dawn. Pascarella and Terenzini (1991) stated informal interaction with faculty plays a significant role in student socialization, and knowing this has an influence on the importance of faculty interaction with students via OSNW. While students may not expect faculty to be on Facebook, the students in the third focus group who had items returned to them by faculty via OSNW may have a unique appreciation for the presence and interaction of faculty.

Student attrition is related directly to the extent student integration into social and academic integration into systems of an institution (Tinto, 1975). Tinto's understanding

of student integration into university systems is reflected in patterns of student usage of Facebook. Kuh (1995b) describes student learning and development through out-of-class activities students devote their time which supports the findings that peer interaction and faculty contact are motivators for continued OSNW activity.

Social integration, connecting others with community and integrating with local environment are enhanced through OSNW networks. The Tinto and Braxton student attrition model is based within on-campus programs as influential in explaining student persistence and attrition within universities. The virtual environment is unique and separate from the physical campus but the online experience has the potential to significantly influence academic and social integration. Undergraduate integration is influenced greatly by peers, and the motivation for involvement in OSNW is often stated as peer searching and motivated by the influence of friends to become involved in virtual socializing. Peer influence on learning outcomes and university experience is supported by research (Kuh, 1995b, 1999; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991;)

The influence that peers have on college students, the impressions and commitment to the institution, affect social integration at universities (Astin, 1993; Kuh, 1990, 1995a, 1995b, 1999; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991; Tinto, 1975). The purpose of this study was to begin the exploration of student integration and the role of Facebook as a new influence in the process of student academic and social integration. The hope was to produce active dialogue where institutions ask questions and provide opportunities for learning and growth.

Facebook appears to have a significant influence on social interaction for students involved in OSNW and is especially present at universities. The fact that students are

involved in virtual communities and enthusiastically describe the social mechanisms driving interaction on campus presents a useful starting off point from which to learn more about ways to employ OSNW to encourage student retention and success within a university. This study should inform administrative thought with knowledge of the extent to which online community does or does not affect the student integration process within the campus community. Furthermore, the study will serve professionals to discourage a reactionary response and encourage a proactive approach as an option for understanding and addressing student populations regarding social networking through the internet.

Some conclusions can be made regarding Facebook use and university involvement. Facebook will continue to be used as an information seeking tool and for a degree of social interaction among community members, and users must feel that the program is made meaningful to them and functional through messages and event planning functions. There appears to be a need to re-examine beliefs about online safety. Individuals bonded through a real community further promotes sense of purpose (Conrad, 2002; Preece, 2004), which requires online community leaders be responsible for supporting the natural progression of relationships in online community. Safe communities must be centered on learning and committed to community development for the benefit of all involved.

### REFERENCES

- Agrawal, R., Kiernan, J., Srikant, R., and Xu, Y. (2002, March). A Study of Student Privacy Issues at Stanford University. The Stanford Student Computer and Network Privacy Project. *Communications of the ACM*, 45, 3.
- Anderson, K.J. (2001). Internet use among college students: An exploratory study. *Journal of American College Health*, 50 (1), 21-26.
- Arthur, D., Sherman, C., Appel, D., & Moore, L. (2006). Why young consumers adopt interactive technologies. *Young Consumers*, 7 (3), 33-38.
- Astin, A.W. (1975). *Preventing students from dropping out*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Astin, A.W. (1993). What Matters in College: Four Critical Years Revisited. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Bloor, M. (2001). *Focus groups in social research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Braxton, J. M. (2000). *Reworking the student departure puzzle*. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press.
- Braxton, J.M. & Lien, L.A. (2000). The viability of academic integration as a central construct in Tinto's interactionalist theory of college student departure. In J.M. Braxton (Ed), *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle*. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press.
- Braxton, J. M., Sullivan, A. V. S., & Johnson, R. M. Jr. (1997). Appraising Tinto's theory of college student departure. In J.C. Smart, (Ed), *Higher education: Handbook of theory and research* (pp. 107-164). New York: Agathon Press.
- Braxton, J. M., Vesper, N., & Hosler, D. (1995). Expectations for college and student persistence. *Research in Higher Education*, *36*(5), 595-612.
- Bugeja, M. (2006). Heads Up, Facing the Facebook. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, v.52, i.21, C1.
- Campbell, G. (2005). There's Something in the Air: Podcasting in Education. *EDUCAUSEreview*, November-December, 33-46.

- Carlson, S. (2005). Tech savvy 'Millennials' have lots of gadgets, like to multitask, and expect to control what, when and how they learn. Should colleges cater to them? *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, 52(7).
- Conrad, D. (2002). Deep in the hearts of learners: Insights into the nature of online community. *Journal of Distance Education*, 17 (1), 1-19.
- Denham, T. & Gadbow, N. (2003, December). Literature Review: Factors Affecting the Development of Generation X and Millennials. Societal Factors Affecting Education. *Nova Southeastern University*.
- Ellison, N., Lampe, C. and Steinfield, C. (2006). Spatially Bounded Online Social Networks and Social Capital: The Role of Facebook. *Annual Conference of the International Communication Association*, (Dresden).
- Gemmill, E. & Peterson, M. (2006). Technology use among college students: Implications for student affairs professionals. *NASPA Journal*, 43(2), 280-300.
- Gosling, S.D., Gaddis, S., & Vazire, S. (2007, March). Personality impressions based on Facebook profiles. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Weblogs and Social Media*, Boulder, CO.
- Greenbaum, T. L. (1998). The handbook for focus group research. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Greenbaum, T. L. (2000). Moderating focus groups: a practical guide for group facilitation. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Gross, R., Acquisti, A. & Heinz, H. (2005). Information revelation and privacy in online social networks. *Proceedings of the 2005 ACM workshop on Privacy in the electronic society*, 71-80.
- Hewitt, A. & Forte, A. (2006). Crossing Boundaries: Identity Management and Student/Faculty Relationships on the Facebook. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW):* Banff, Canada.
- Jesdanun, A. (2006, Sep 11). Facebook to Open to All Internet Users. *ABC News*. Retrieved September 21, 2006 from: <a href="http://abcnews.go.com/Technology/wireStory?id+2422125">http://abcnews.go.com/Technology/wireStory?id+2422125</a>.
- Kuh, G. D. (1990). Assessing student culture. In W. G. Tierney (Ed.), *Assessing academic climates and cultures*. New Directions for Institutional Research, *68*, 47-60. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Kuh, G. D. (1995a). Cultivating "high-stakes" student culture research. *Research in Higher Education*, *36*(5), 563-576.

- Kuh, G. D. (1995b). The other curriculum. *Journal of Higher Education*, 66(2), 123-155.
- Kuh, G. D. (1999). How are we doing? Tracking the quality of the undergraduate experience, 1960s to the present. *Review of Higher Education*, 22(2), 99-119.
- Kuh, G. D., & Whitt, E. J. (1988). The invisible tapestry: Culture in American colleges and universities. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Research Report, No. 1.Washington, DC: Association for the Study of Higher Education.
- Lampe, C., Ellison, N. and Steinfield, C. (2006). A Face(book) in the Crowd: Social Searching vs. Social Browsing. *ACM Press* ACM Special Interest Group on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work (Banff, Canada).
- Pascarella, E.T., & Terenzini, P.T. (1991). How college affects students: Findings and insights from twenty years of research. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Patil, A. & Kobsa, A. (2005). Designing with Privacy in Mind. *Proceedings of the CHI-* 2005 Workshop on Awareness Systems: Known Results, Theory, Concepts and Future Challenges.
- Patton, M.Q. (2001). *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods* (2<sup>nd</sup> Edition). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Preece, J. (2004). Etiquette, empathy and trust in communities of practice: stepping-stones to social capital. *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, 10(3).
- Read, B. (2006) Think Before You Share: Students' online socializing can have unintended consequences. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, v. 52, i. 20, pA38.
- Read, B. (2005). Have you 'Facebooked' Him? *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, v. 50, i. 38, pA29.
- Rheingold, H. (2000). *The Virtual Community: Homesteading on the Electronic Frontier*. London: MIT Press.
- Ridings, C.M., Gefen, D., & Arinze, B. (2002). Some antecedents and effects of trust in virtual communities. *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 11(3-4), 271-295.
- Ridings, C. M., & Gefen, D. (2004). Virtual community attraction: Why people hang out online. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 10 (1).
- Robinson, V.M.J., & Lai, M.K. (2006). Practitioner research for educators: A guide to improving classrooms and schools. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Seale, C.F. (1998). Researching society and culture. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

- Seale, C.F. (1999). The quality of qualitative research. London: Sage Publications.
- Seale, C.F. (2004). Researching Society and Culture. London: Sage Publications.
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from Higher Education: A Theoretical Synthesis of Recent Research. *Review of Educational Research*, 45, 89-125.
- Tinto, V. (1982) Limits of theory and practice in student attrition. *Journal of Higher Education*, 53(6) 687-700.
- Tinto, V. (1988) Stages of Student Departure: Reflection on the Longitudinal Character of Student Leaving. *Journal of Higher Education*, 59 (4) 438-455.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

# **APPENDICES**

# Appendix A: Email Script (Invitation to participate)

Subject: Online Communities Research Study Invitation

I am writing to ask for your help in a research study regarding student use of Facebook at Oklahoma State University. The purpose of this study is to examine ways in which Facebook influences the campus community.

Your voluntary participation is requested in a research study of students at Oklahoma State University. You have been selected to participate in a focus group conducted on (DATE). The focus group which consists of college students living on campus will be conducted over no longer than one and a half hours and will consist of a led discussion on key topics relating to social networking sites and student involvement. You have been identified as a participant based on reporting your residence hall on your Facebook account.

Results of this study will be used for the completion of a Masters thesis for Katie Bainbridge, and may eventually result in publication or research presentations at professional conferences. All personal information will be kept strictly confidential and pseudonyms will be used to protect the participants.

This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board at Oklahoma State University.

Thank you for your time. If you have any questions regarding this study, please contact Katie Bainbridge at Katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu or via phone at 405.744.4715.

Sincerely,

Katie Bainbridge Graduate Student/ Research Assistant 218 Willard Hall OSU, Stillwater 74078

# Appendix B: Interview Guide

The intent of the focus groups is to discover the extent to which increased time spent on social networking websites has an impact on the development of campus culture and student interpretations and perception of the university environment.

The tasks required of the facilitator are first to arrange the logistics of holding the groups, namely setting up the room so it can be used. The second purpose is guiding the participants to ensure contributors are receptive and attentive. Set up the tape recorder and ensure notes are taken throughout discussion.

The primary duty of the facilitator is to lead the groups following the script as a guideline; however it is important to have flexibility to allow the discussion to proceed smoothly. This is the snowball method and will allow the greatest amount of information to be gained in the short time.

# Appendix C: Interview Script

### Welcome!

My name is Katie Bainbridge and I have requested your participation in a focus group regarding Facebook use. I am completing my Masters thesis gathering data on the impact of social networking sites like Facebook. My interests and concerns are whether the time spent on them has an effect on your involvement on campus, interaction with campus culture and perception of the university environment. Kathleen Kennedy, a doctoral student in higher education, will be taking notes that will assist me in coding the data to answer the research question. Feel free to be open and honest with your answers and discussion, talk amongst yourselves but try to keep on track with the topic and be respectful of the others in your group. I would like to encourage this to run as a group discussion.

# Any questions?

(Following snowball method- these questions may expand and change throughout discussion)

- 1. For what purpose do you use Facebook?
- 2. Where do you access Facebook from?
- 3. Do you use the event function on Facebook?
  - a. What other 'links' do you use?
- 4. Where you members of Facebook in high school?
  - a. What interaction with OSU did you have in high school?
- 5. Has Facebook impacted your perception of campus in any way?
- 6. Likes and dislikes of Facebook?
- 7. Have you make any social connections via Facebook?
- 8. What motivates you to continue to use Facebook?
- 9. Reflect on your habits of using Facebook, what typically happens?

Thank you very much for helping me in my study. Not only might your involvement help in getting this study published and/or presented to other professionals in the student affairs and higher education administration, but the research serves in developing better communication with incoming students and expands the knowledge base of information on virtual university communities.

# Appendix D: Informed Consent

### **Informed Consent Document**

Project Title: Facebook

Name of student researcher: Katie Bainbridge Address: Katie Bainbridge 218 Willard Hall

OSU, Stillwater, OK 74078

Telephone number: 405-744-4715 Email address: <u>katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu</u>

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this dissertation research for the above student researcher, a graduate student at Oklahoma State University. This form outlines the purposes of this research project and provides a description of your involvement and rights as a participant.

**Purpose:** The purpose of this study is to inform administrative professionals of Facebook use and the influences of online social networking in the social dynamics on campus as another way to positively influence the understanding of professionals and to investigate the trends in social integration of freshman Facebook users at Oklahoma State University.

**Procedures:** You are invited to participate in this study by agreeing to participate in a focus group that will last no longer than an hour and a half. I will audiotape our interview with your permission and transcribe the tape for the purpose of accuracy. I will give you a copy of the transcript so that you may see that I have captured your words correctly. Transcripts and tapes from focus groups will be contained in a locked file within the College of Education. At the end of the study, the tapes will be destroyed. I will assign a fictitious name on the transcript or you may choose one yourself. Your real name will not be used nor will identifying information be used in any form in the preparation of the dissertation or in possible manuscripts prepared for publication in scholarly journals.

**Risks of Participation:** There are no known risks associated with this project which are greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life. Some participants may consider the subject matter to be of a sensitive nature.

**Benefits:** There are no immediate benefits of participation in this study.

**Confidentiality:** Participant names will not be used in the research study and all data will be kept confidential. In order to protect the identity of the participants, pseudonyms will be used. The data will be kept in a locked cabinet in the researcher's office. The data will be kept for five years at which point paper documents will be shredded and tapes will be destroyed. The study may result in

published articles, dissertation, and/or presentations at professional conferences. Any reporting that arises from this research study will not identify individuals, places, names or specific events.

It is possible that the consent process and data collection will be observed by thesis advisor, Dr. Jesse Mendez, responsible for safeguarding the rights and well being of people who participate in research.

Contacts: At any time, participants may contact the researcher, Katie Bainbridge, Masters student, Oklahoma State University at 405-744-4715 or Katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu. Additionally, participants may contact Dr. Jesse Mendez, Thesis Advisor, Oklahoma State University at 405-744-8064 or <a href="mailto:jesse.perez.mendez@okstate.edu">jesse.perez.mendez@okstate.edu</a>. If you have questions about the research and your rights as a research volunteer, you may contact Dr. Shelia Kennison, IRB Chair, 219 Cordell North, Stillwater, OK 74078, 405-744-1676 or irb@okstate.edu.

**Participants Rights:** As a participant in this research, you are entitled to know the nature of the research. You are free to decline to participate, and you are free to stop the interview or withdraw from the study at any time. No penalty exists for withdrawing your participation. Feel free to ask any questions at any time about the nature of this research project and the methods I am using. Your suggestions and concerns are important to me.

**Signatures:** Please indicate your willingness to participate in this research process by providing your signature below. The signatures below indicate an acknowledgment of the terms described above.

I have read and fully understand the consent form. I sign it freely and voluntarily. A copy of this form has been given to me.

### SIGNATURE OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANT

DATE

I certify that I have personally explained this document before requesting that the participant sign it.

# SIGNATURE OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANT

DATE

(The participant signs two copies; the participant receives a copy, and the student researcher retains a copy)

# Appendix E: Institutional Review Board Documents

### Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Date: Friday, March 14, 2008

IRB Application No ED0849

Proposal Title: Facebook: Social Networking Websites, Examining Use by College Freshman

Principal Investigator(s):

Katie Bainbridge 218 Willard

Stillwater, OK 74078

Kathleen Kennedy

030 Student Union Stillwater, OK 74078 Jesse P. Mendez 312 Willard

Stillwater, OK 74078

Reviewed and

rocessed as: Expedited

Approval Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Pending Revision

There are revisions to your application to the IRB, which must be completed satisfactorily before your protocol will be approved. They are listed on the following page.

Please submit a revised IRB application incorporating and HIGHLIGHTING the changes listed. The revised application does not need to be signed. If any changes are required to your consent form, you must submit a new consent form incorporating the changes.

The material containing your revisions should be returned to the IRB Office, 219 Cordell North, Stillwater, OK 74078. These revisions will be reviewed by the IRB Chair and/or the review committee of the IRB. When all outstanding issues have been addressed satisfactorily, you will receive an approval letter from the Chair of the IRB.

You may not begin, this research until these revisions have been made and the IRB has granted final approval to conduct research using human subjects under this protocol. You will be allowed 60 days to respond satisfactorily to the revisions required by the IRB. After that period of time, your protocol will be CLOSED.

If you have questions or wish to discuss the reviewers' comments, please contact Beth McTernan at 405-744-5700 or via e-mail at beth.mcternan@okstate.edu.

## Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board Reviewer Comments

Date: Friday, March 14, 2008

IRB Application No ED0849

Proposal Title: Facebook: Social Networking Websites, Examining Use by College Freshman

Comment: Seems interesting given the high use of Facebook by college students. Do you think there would be differences if you used MySpace?

#### Revisions:

- The invitation to participate does not tell participants that they were identified via their participation in Facebook. I cannot see that withholding this information is necessary to the research. If so, researchers should explain.
- 2. In your response to question 3 specify that you will be audio recording the focus groups. State where the groups will be held and discuss how you will address confidentiality of the participants. Your response in question 12 says that Dr. Mendez will observe the data collection. Does that mean he will be sitting with the focus groups?
- 3. #7 was marked "NO" but in the consent form, participants are told they may find some of the discussion to concern sensitive information. This box should be marked YES, and an explanation given.
- 4. #10 was marked, "NO" but a consent form is used. This box should be marked YES.
- 5. In question 12 and in the consent form please clarify where the data will be stored and who will have access to the data. There are 3 researchers listed. Whose office will be used to store data? How long will list linking names and pseudonyms be kept? Once tapes have been transcribed and verified, why is it necessary to keep them and the list linking names and pseudonyms 5 years? Please justify.
- Please use the following language when referring to the IRB contact; If you have questions about your rights as a research volunteer, you may contact Dr. Shelia Kennison, IRB Chair, 219 Cordell North, Stillwater, OK 74078, 405-744-1676 or irb@okstate.edu.
- 7. If someone other than the researcher will do the data transcription, a modification form requesting such must be submitted to the IRB along with a copy of the confidentiality agreement.

JANU M. K

Shelia Kennison, Chair, Institutional Review Board

Friday, March 14, 2008

Date

HANDWRITTEN FORMS WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF HUMAN SUBJECTS RESEARCH IRB Number Submitted to the Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board Pursuant to 45 CFR 46 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY Title of Project: Facebook: Social networking websites, examining use by college freshman Agency: Grant No: OSU Routing No: Principal Investigator(s): I acknowledge that this represents an accurate and complete description of my research. If there are additional Pls, provide information on a separate sheet MITTER R. Katie Bainbridge January 30, 2008 Name of Primary PI (typed) Signature of PI Date School of Educational Studies Educational Leadership Department College 218 Willard Hall, OSU, Stillwater, 970-581-7272 Katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu OK, 74078 PI's Address (Street, City, State, Phone E-Mail Zip) Kathleen Kennedy January 30, 2008 Name of Co-PI (typed) Signature of Co-F Date School of Educational Studies Educational Leadership Department College 030 Student Union, OSU, 405-744-8977 Kathleen.kennedy@okstate.edu Stillwater, OK 74078 Pl's Address Phone E-Mail Adviser (complete if PI is a student): I agree to provide the proper surveillance of this project to ensure that the rights and welfare of the human subjects are properly protected. Dr. Jesse Mendez January 30, 2008 Adviser's Name (typed) Signature of Adviser School of Educational Studies Educational Leadership Department College 312 Willard Hall, OSU, Stillwater, 405-744-8064 Jesse.perez.mendez@okstate.edu OK 74078

Updated: April, 2006

Adviser's Address

E-Mail

Phone

Concurrence:		
Dr. Bert Jacobson  Department Head (typed)  Stepart W. Edwards	February 26, 2008 Date	School of Educational Studies Department
Dr. Ramola Fry  Sull Column	February 26, 2008	Education
College Dean or Research Signature Director (typed)	Date	College

### Checklist for application submission:

- X Research plan\*
- X Informed consent/assent forms
- X Outline or script to be provided prior to subjects= agreement to participate
- X Instrument(s) [questionnaire, survey, testing]
- X Bio, resume or vitae for all PIs (student or faculty) and advisor
- X Department/college/division signatures
- X Grant Proposal

# Number of copies to be submitted (based on type of review required):

Exempt	2
Expedited	3
Expedited Special Population	5
Full board	17

### NOTE:

- Any changes in the project after approval by the IRB must be resubmitted as a modification for review by the IRB before approval is granted. Modifications do not change the period of initial approval.
- Approval is granted for one year maximum. Annual requests must be made to the IRB for continuation, as long as the research continues. Forms for continuation and modification are available on the web at <a href="http://compliance.vpr.okstate.edu/hsp/forms.htm">http://compliance.vpr.okstate.edu/hsp/forms.htm</a>

For assistance, please contact the Office of University Research Compliance at 405-744-5700.

Updated: April, 2006

<sup>\*</sup>Research plan should be a brief summary of research, the methodology, risks to subjects, and benefits. This plan is generally used for thesis or dissertation research or other unfunded research.

# Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Date:

Tuesday, March 18, 2008

IRB Application No

Proposal Title:

Facebook: Social Networking Websites, Examining Use by College

Freshman

ED0849

Reviewed and Processed as: Expedited

Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved Protocol Expires: 3/17/2009

Investigator(s):

Katie Bainbridge 218 Willard

Kathleen Kennedy 030 Student Union Jesse P. Mendez 312 Willard

Stillwater, OK 74078

Stillwater, OK 74078

Stillwater, OK 74078

The IRB application referenced above has been approved. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in section 45

The final versions of any printed recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are attached to this letter. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

1. Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol must be submitted with the appropriate signatures for IRB approval.

2. Submit a request for continuation if the study extends beyond the approval period of one calendar year. This continuation must receive IRB review and approval before the research can continue.

3. Report any adverse events to the IRB Chair promptly. Adverse events are those which are unanticipated and impact the subjects during the course of this constant; and

4. Notify the IRB office in writing when your research project is constant.

4. Notify the IRB office in writing when your research project is complete.

Please note that approved protocols are subject to monitoring by the IRB and that the IRB office has the authority to inspect research records associated with this protocol at any time. If you have questions about the IRB procedures or need any assistance from the Board, please contact Beth McTernan in 219 Cordell North (phone: 405-744-5700, beth.mcternan@okstate.edu).

#### Informed Consent Document

Project Title: Facebook

Name of student researcher: Katie Bainbridge

Address: 218 Willard Hall OSU, Stillwater. OK

74078

**Telephone number:** 405-744-4715 **Email address:** katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this dissertation research for the above student researcher, a graduate student at Oklahoma State University. This form outlines the purposes of this research project and provides a description of your involvement and rights as a participant.

**Purpose:** The purpose of this study is to inform administrative professionals of Facebook use and the influences of online social networking in the social dynamics on campus as another way to positively influence the understanding of professionals and to investigate the trends in social integration of freshman Facebook users at Oklahoma State University.

Procedures: You are invited to participate in this study by agreeing to participate in a focus group that will last no longer than an hour and a half. I will audiotape our interview with your permission and transcribe the tape for the purpose of accuracy. I will give you a copy of the transcript so that you may see that I have captured your words correctly. Transcripts and tapes from focus groups will be contained in a locked file within the College of Education. At the end of the study, the tapes will be destroyed. I will assign a fictitious name on the transcript or you may choose one yourself. Your real name will not be used nor will identifying information be used in any form in the preparation of the dissertation or in possible manuscripts prepared for publication in scholarly journals.

**Risks of Participation:** There are no known risks associated with this project which are greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life. Some participants may consider the subject matter to be of a sensitive nature.

Benefits: There are no immediate benefits of participation in this study.

Confidentiality: Participant names will not be used in the research study and all data will be kept confidential. In order to protect the identity of the participants, pseudonyms will be used. The data will be kept in a locked cabinet in the researcher's office. The data will be kept for five years at which point paper documents will be shredded and tapes will be destroyed. The study may result in published articles, dissertation, and/or presentations at professional conferences. Any reporting that arises from this research study will not identify individuals, places, names or specific events.

Okla. State Univ. IRB Approxed 3/18/LOK

Extended #88 ED-08-49

It is possible that the consent process and data collection will be observed by thesis advisor, Dr. Jesse Mendez, responsible for safeguarding the rights and well being of people who participate in research.

Contacts: At any time, participants may contact the researcher, Katie Bainbridge, Masters student, Oklahoma State University at 405-744-4715 or <a href="Mailto:Katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu">Katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu</a>. Additionally, participants may contact Dr. Jesse Mendez, Thesis Advisor, Oklahoma State University at 405-744-8064 or <a href="mailto:jesse.perez.mendez@okstate.edu">jesse.perez.mendez@okstate.edu</a>. If you have questions about the research and your rights as a research volunteer, you may contact Dr. Shelia Kennison, IRB Chair, 219 Cordell North, Stillwater, OK 74078, 405-744-1676 or irb@okstate.edu.

**Participants Rights:** As a participant in this research, you are entitled to know the nature of the research. You are free to decline to participate, and you are free to stop the interview or withdraw from the study at any time. No penalty exists for withdrawing your participation. Feel free to ask any questions at any time about the nature of this research project and the methods I am using. Your suggestions and concerns are important to me.

**Signatures:** Please indicate your willingness to participate in this research process by providing your signature below. The signatures below indicate an acknowledgment of the terms described above.

I have read and fully understand the consent form. I sign it freely and voluntarily. A copy of this form has been given to me.

SIGNATURE OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANT

DATE

I certify that I have personally explained this document before requesting that the participant sign it.

SIGNATURE OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANT

DATE

(The participant signs two copies; the participant receives a copy, and the student researcher retains a copy)  $\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} + \frac$ 

Oxia. State Univ. IFIB Assess 3 listor Expres 31/7109 FBS ED-0x-49

### Appendix A: Email Script (Invitation to participate)

Subject: Online Communities Research Study Invitation

I am writing to ask for your help in a research study regarding student use of Facebook at Oklahoma State University. The purpose of this study is to examine ways in which Facebook influences the campus community.

Your voluntary participation is requested in a research study of students at Oklahoma State University. You have been selected to participate in a focus group conducted on (DATE). The focus group which consists of college freshmen living on campus will be conducted over no longer than one and a half hours and will consist of a led discussion on key topics relating to social networking sites and student involvement. You have been identified as a participant based on reporting your residence hall on your Facebook account.

Results of this study will be used for the completion of a Masters thesis for Katie Bainbridge, and may eventually result in publication or research presentations at professional conferences. All personal information will be kept strictly confidential and pseudonyms will be used to protect the participants.

This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board at Oklahoma State University.

Thank you for your time. If you have any questions regarding this study, please contact Katie Bainbridge at Katie.bainbridge@okstate.edu or via phone at 405.744.4715.

Sincerely,

Katie Bainbridge Graduate Student/ Research Assistant 218 Willard Hall OSU, Stillwater 74078 Okia. State Univ. 1886 Approxi.3118108 Epitor.3117109 1888 ED-08-49

### Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Date

Tuesday, April 22, 2008

Protocol Expires:

3/17/2009

IRB Application

ED0849

Proposal Title:

Facebook: Social Networking Websites, Examining Use by College Freshman

Reviewed and

Expedited

Processed as:

Modification

Status Recommended by Reviewer(s) Approved

Principal

Investigator(s):

Katie Bainbridge

Kathleen Kennedy

Jesse P. Mendez

218 Willard

030 Student Union

312 Willard

Stillwater, OK 74078

Stillwater, OK 74078

Stillwater, OK 74078

The requested modification to this IRB protocol has been approved. Please note that the original expiration date of the protocol has not changed. The IRB office MUST be notified in writing when a project is complete. All approved projects are subject to monitoring by the IRB

The final versions of any printed recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are attached to this letter. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

Shelia Kennison, Chair, OSU Institutional Review Board

Tuesday, April 22, 2008

Date

### **VITA**

# Katie Gene Bainbridge

## Candidate for the Degree of

### Master of Science

Thesis: THE FACEBOOK CAMPUS: EXPLORING THE EVOLUTION OF

FACEBOOK CULTURE IN UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

Major Field: Educational Leadership Studies

### Personal Data:

Currently working as a research assistant for the U.S. Army Defense Ammunition Center Project with the College of Education at Oklahoma State University.

# Education:

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Arts in Journalism at the University of Northern Colorado, Greeley, Colorado in May, 2005.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Educational Leadership Studies at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December, 2008.

# **Professional Memberships:**

American Educational Research Association (AERA)
Association for the Study of Higher Education (ASHE)
National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (NASPA)
American College Personnel Association (ACPA)

Name: Katie Gene Bainbridge Date of Degree: December, 2008

Institution: Oklahoma State University Location: Stillwater, Oklahoma

Title of Study: THE FACEBOOK CAMPUS: EXPLORING THE EVOLUTION OF

### FACEBOOK CULTURE IN UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

Pages in Study: 92 Candidate for the Degree of Master of Science

Major Field: Educational Leadership Studies

Scope and Method of the Study: This study examines *Facebook* usage and the relationship online social networking has to academic and social integration. Using a focus group approach, twelve participants at a research land-grant institution were interviewed to explore how they used *Facebook* to enhance their overall social integration into collegiate life and overall campus experience.

# Findings and Conclusions:

This study uncovered several emergent themes of *Facebook* usage regarding motivation of usage, safety concerns, community development, and issues regarding privacy. Lastly, the study found that student communication with the campus community and social integration with college culture may start well-before enrollment on campus. In other words, students forge communication channels with the college culture in high school through *Facebook*. The influence of online social networks like *Facebook* in the everyday social experience of undergraduate students cannot be denied, and the boundaries between the virtual world of *Facebook* and the actual campus community are not exclusive of each other. More needs to be learned of the social ramifications of *Facebook* on the college experience.